Post Office Box 549
101 Veterans Memorial Drive

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949 TOWN OF

Phone (252) 261-3552
Fax (252) 261-7900
https://www.kittyhawknc.gov/

KITTY HAWK

PROPOSED AGENDA
KITTY HAWK TOWN COUNCIL
Monday, March 2, 2026
Kitty Hawk Town Hall, Smith Room
5:00 PM

1. Call to Order

2. Moment of Silence/Pledge of Allegiance
3. Approval of Agenda

4. Presentation —

a) Introduction to new Police Officers Mason Kennedy and Michael Reinke
b) Dune Analysis Presentation- Coastal Protection Engineering

5. Public Comment - The publicis invited to address the Town Council on any topic. Please sign
up with the Town Clerk before the meeting and when your name is called, come forward and
speak into the microphone at the lectern. Please limit comments to 3 minutes.

6. Consent Agenda — Items on the consent agenda are considered to be non-controversial,
routine in nature, or items not requiring a presentation to discuss by the Town Council in
order to consider the items(s). Any item may be removed for discussion by the council or by
any member of the audience who wants to hear the item presented and discussed.

a) Approval of January 5, 2026, Regular Session Council Minutes — Approval of the
consent agenda will approve these minutes.

b) Budget Amendment #12 — Outer Banks Community Foundation Funding for Icarus
Monument

c) Budget Amendment #13 — Police Department Donations

d) Budget Amendment #14 — Replace Fire Department HVAC Unit

e) Budget Amendment # 15 — Insurance claim reimbursement

f) Budget Amendment #16 — Dare County Tourism Board Grant Award

g) Authorization to Proceed with Beach Nourishment Task 2B

h) Approval Order for 5416 N Croatan Hwy SUP — Royal Farms

i) Denial Order for 4352 B The Woods Rd SUP — RV Park

j} GEACC Current TV FY 2026-2027 Budget for Approval

7. ltems Removed from Consent Agenda —
8. Planning —
9. Schedule Public Hearing —

a) Zoning Text Amendment — Sec. 42-528. Accessory dwelling units - size and setback
requirements

(O Town Council Freposed Agenda March 2. 2026



TOWNOF =
KITITY HAWK

b) Zoning Text Amendment — Sec. 42-504 (i) Setbacks associated with pool decking

10. New Business —
a) Appointment of Recreation Committee Member

11. Old Business —
a) Fleet Management Policy
b) Travel and Expense Policy
c) Discussion to Explore Town Hall Renovation

12. Reports/General Comments from Town Manager
13. Reports/General Comments from Town Attorney

14. Reports/General Comments from Town Council

15. Recess to March 20, 2026. Budget Workshop, 9 am at Kitty Hawk Police Department at
5200A North Croatan Highway, Kitty Hawk, NC 27949,

*To Watch Livestream on YouTube: https://youtube.com/live/pojas-AhIVY ?feature=share

The meeting will also be available to watch on the Town’s YouTube channel on demand the next
day.

**Send Comments and/or Questions via email:

You may always send comments or questions at any time to info@kittyhawknc.gov. If you would like your
question or comment read at this meeting, please send it by 2:30 PM on March 2, 2026, and note that you
would like it to be read at the meeting. Be sure to include your full name and address. Please keep your
comments to three minutes.

Si habla espafiol, los servicios de asistencia lingiiistica estdn disponibles de forma gratuita. Llame al
252-261-3552 para obtener ayuda.

2|Page Town Council Proposed Agenda March 2, 2026



Post Office Box 549

101 Veterans Memorial Drive

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

Phone (252) 261-3552
Fax (252) 261-7900
TOWN OF https://www kittyhawknc.gov/

KITTY HAWK

Minutes
KITTY HAWK TOWN COUNCIL
Monday, January 5, 2026
Kitty Hawk Town Hall, Smith Room
6:00 PM

1. Callto Order

2. Moment of Silence/Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Public Comment - The public is invited to address the Town Council on any topic. Please sign up with
the Town Clerk before the meeting and when your name is called, come forward and speak into the
microphone at the lectern. Please limit comments to 3 minutes.

5. Consent Agenda — Items on the consent agenda are considered to be non-controversial, routine in
nature, or items not requiring a presentation to discuss by the Town Council in order to consider the
items(s). Any item may be removed for discussion by the council or by any member of the audience
who wants to hear the item presented and discussed.

a)

b)

h)

Approval of December 1, 2025, Regular Session Council Minutes — Approval of the
consent agenda will approve these minutes.

Resolution- Revised 2026 Town Council Meeting Dates — Adjusting the time of the March
2, 2026 Council Meeting to 5 pm to accommodate the primary election set up

FY 2026-2027 Budget Calendar

Budget Amendment #8 - Insurance Claim

Budget Amendment #9 - OBX Jeep Donation

Budget Amendment #10 - Cybersecurity Grant

Budget Amendment #11 - Public Works Replacement Truck

Budget Amendment #12 - Icarus monument funding

6. Items Removed from Consent Agenda —

7. Planning —

8. Public Hearing —

a)

Special Use Permit — 4352 B The Woods Rd — RV Park. Applicant proposes expansion of
existing RV park onto adjacent vacant parcel.

9. New Business —

a)

Appointment of New Member to Recreation Committee

10. Old Business —

11. Reports/General Comments from Town Manager

12. Reports/General Comments from Town Attorney

1jprage

Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

13. Reports/General Comments from Town Council
14. Adjourn

Council Members Present: Mayor Charlotte Walker, Mayor Pro Tem Jeff Pruitt, Councilman David Hines,
Councilman Peter Mantz, Councilman Dylan Tillett

Staff Members Present: Town Manager Melody Clopton, Finance Director Liliana Noble, Police Lieutenant
Jimmy Helms, PIO/Town Clerk Lauren Garrett, Police Chief Palkovics, Fire Chief Talley, Administrative
Services Director Laura Walker, Town Attorney Casey Varnell

1. Call to Order
2. Moment of Silence/Pledge of Allegiance
3. Approval of Agenda

Walker: Do | have a motion to approve tonight’s agenda?
Hines: So moved.
Walker: Do | second?
Tillett: Second.
Walker: Thank you, Dylan. All in favor?
All Council: Aye.
Walker: Madam clerk, do we have anyone signed up for public comment tonight?

4, Public Comment
Garrett, Lauren: Yes, ma'am. We do. We have an email from a citizen who would like to have this read into
the record. This email was from Ken Goldmith and Ashley Goldsmith of 504 First Flight Run. We are full-
time residents of Kitty Hawk who own property in Kitty Hawk Woods close to the site of the proposed RV
park expansion. We are unable to attend tonight’s town council meeting and request that this letter be
read into the public record at the meeting. We urge you to deny the special use permit for the RV park at
4352 B The Woods Road. This proposed development will cause serious public health and safety concerns
and lead to significant environmental damage. Furthermore, the application fails to meet specific
requirements of the town code and is contrary to numerous policies of the CAMA land use plan. As you
know, almost the entire parcel is in the AE flood zone subject to a high likelihood of flooding. Any home
proposed for this area would have been would have had to been elevated, but because these are RVs, our
code simply requires that they be moved every 180 days or be ready for highway use. The applicant
essentially concedes that these RVs will be semi-permanent fixtures with absentee owners who will visit
when convenient. It is difficult to believe that all the RVs on site will be moved in the scant time available
before a major storm hits Kittyhawk. It seems much more likely that some or more will remain to be
flooded and or destroyed, creating a major public health and safety problem. Furthermore, serious
environmental damage to both the immediate neighborhood and the town will result from this proposed
RV park expansion. The proposal creates massive site clearing, including the removal of almost every tree
on three quarters of the upland area of the site. This kind of intensive development is directly counter to
the camel land use plans accommodate and adapt goals for this property and is specifically contrary to
policies 4.1 and 4.3. In addition, the applicant's proposal to build numerous separate septic systems rather
than A single community sewage disposal system required by the town code and not to provide a sewage
dumping station will inevitably result in future water pollution that will be a burden on all Kitty Hawk
residents. Building a slew of new septic systems in an area that the land use plan highlights as especially
vulnerable to septic system failure is a sure path to disaster. While the septic plan may satisfy the county

2|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

environmental health department, it will substantially increase water pollution in the local waterways and
add to already disastrous pollution levels in Kitty Hawk Bay and the Albemarle Sound. As noted earlier, this
proposal violates several specific requirements of the town code. No community sewage disposal, no
sewage dumping station, a dead-end road exceeding 1,000 ft, no cul-de-sac. Perhaps more importantly, it
violates the spirit and the intent of the CAMA land use plan that citizens of Kitty Hawk worked so hard to
develop. We believe that this proposed use is both inappropriate and unsuitable for this location and we
urge you to deny the application for the special use permit on the grounds that it does not satisfy any of the
special use findings that we are required to make under section 42-100 (B) (8) of the code. Thank you for
the opportunity to express our concerns about this application. We hope that you will deny this special use
permit and protect the health, safety, and environmental quality of our community.
Hines: Do you mind repeating the address of that please?
Garrett, Lauren: 504 First Flight Run.
Walker: Thank you. Anybody else?
Garrett, Lauren: | do not have anyone else currently signed up for public comment.
Walker: Thank you. Do | have a motion to accept the Consent Agenda?
5. Consent Agenda
Pruitt: So moved.
Mantz: Second.
Walker: Second from Pete. All in favor?
All Council: Aye.
8. Public Hearing —
Special Use Permit — 4352 B The Woods Rd — RV Park.
Walker: Okay. Now, now we can move on to planning. Next is a public hearing. Since this is a quasi-judicial
hearing, we need to swear in all of those who may wish to speak during this public hearing. That would
include any member of the public who is going to speak. if you would just come up. | think we'll probably
do like we did last time, do everything at once. If anybody from the public wants to speak at this hearing,
please do come up and be sworn in and members of the public speak.
Garrett, Lauren: Do you swear that the evidence you shall give in this action shall be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth?
Windle, Andrea; Delucia, John; Bourne, Greg; Hornik, Robert; Cashin, Chris: | do.
Garrett, Lauren: Thank you.
Walker: Casey, would you like to give us an overview of quasi-judicial hearing process, please?
Varnell, Casey: Absolutely. As you said, it's quasi-judicial. We're dealing with a scenario where you've
already seen one formality. It's a little different than a typical public hearing. We've got sworn testimony
that's occurring. The reason for that is the evidence presented must be substantial. It must be material and
it must be competent. So you guys, like a judge in a courtroom, are the deciders of what is substantial,
what's material and what's competent. A very brief breakdown. Substantial would be any evidence that you
guys tend to feel shows or proves the elements and the requirements specifications within our code
concerning this application. In other words, whether the evidence presented does satisfy those conditions
and specifications. Material would be anything relevant to the subject matter at hand. Competency is
usually where we get into the grayest area and that's where you guys must make those decisions. I'll give
you an example. We are again quasi-judicial; we have stepped up from where we generally would be in a
public hearing. For example someone wants to testify to land value or devaluation of land. Well, you guys
are entitled to accept whatever evidence or give whatever weight you want to it. But what the court cases
say is, well, then that person should be a certified land appraiser, for example. They should be professional
in the field of land valuation. For traffic studies, same thing. You would need to be an engineer who
generally practices in traffic studies. That's just an example, but you know you guys like | said are the

3|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

material tonight.

Walker: Thank you, Casey. Do | have a motion to go into public hearing?

Hines: So moved.

Pruitt: Second.

Walker: Okay. All in favor?

All Council: Aye.

Walker: We are now in public hearing. Rob, can you provide an overview of what you'll be presenting?
Testerman, Rob: Sure, | won't read word for word through the packet that was submitted to the council,
but I'll give a brief overview and then turn it over to the applicants to let them present. The proposal the
applicant's requesting approval of special use permit to develop an expansion of the existing Preserve RV
park on their vacant parcel located at 4352 B The Woods Road. This is in the VR3 zoning district. RV parks
are permitted as a special use permit regulated by the standards of chapter 42 division 4 of town code.
Some of the aspects I'll highlight on going through the different standards and requirements. 42-6195
requires an approved community sewage disposal system. The applicant has proposed separate septic
systems, one for the bath house and one for every two RV spaces. Dare County Environmental Health has
evaluated those sites, and the applicant has provided documentation that it is suitable for what they're
proposing. The park standards for the cul-de-sacs and dead-end roads say it shall not exceed 1,000 ft in
length measured from the entrance to the center of the turnaround. Any road designed to be permanently
closed shall have a turnaround at the closed end with a minimum right-of-way diameter of 80 ft. The new
access road which is shown on the monitor up here is 675 ft in length measured from the property
boundary. If measured from the overall park entrance out by The Woods Road, the length of the existing
access road plus the proposed would be approximately 1,090 ft and rather than the 80-foot diameter right-
of-way turnaround, the applicant has proposed the hammerhead or T shaped terminus that you see on the
site plan. This has been forwarded to the fire department for their review. No concerns were related to me
based on that turnaround design. One of the other requirements, each park shall provide recreation areas
to serve the needs of the anticipated users. The site plan does indicate open space area approximately 70
by 75-foot labeled as a recreation area. I did hear from Dare County Environmental Health today. That area
is shown as a drain field for the bath house and environmental health indicated that would not be able to
be used for the recreation area. That it would be grass and mowed occasionally and roped off to prevent
damage to the systems. RV parks shall provide at least one sewage dumping station approved by Dare
County Environmental Health. As | mentioned, the septic systems have been proposed throughout the park
instead of a singular sewage dumping station which effectively serves as multiple sewage dumping stations.
Again, environmental health has evaluated the site and determined that it would be suitable for what
they're proposing. Camping units shall be used as temporary quarters or shelter during periods of
recreation, vacation, leisure time, or travel, and shall not be used for permanent living quarters. That would
be, | guess, an ongoing condition of approval if the special use permit is approved. The project narrative
indicates that the intent is to rent spaces on a long-term monthly basis so that their patrons can leave the
RV for longer periods of time for convenient visits to the area. If the RVs are not in one place for greater
than 180 days or if they remain highway ready, this would be compliant with the flood damage prevention
ordinance. Section 42-620 requires a park operator to keep an accurate register containing a record of all
RVs owners and occupants of the park. That register shall contain the name, address of the owner of each
occupant, license number and state of issue of each licensed vehicle, the space number in which the RV is
parked, date of entering the park and date of exiting the park. | included in the staff report that if council
does approve the special use permit that a potential condition of approval would be that the park operator
periodically submit that park register to the town so we can ensure compliance with it being more of a
recreational use than turning into any kind of long-term residential. For the land use plan, the property is in
both the accommodate and adapt and the acknowledge and conserve character areas. Those descriptions

4|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

from the land use plan were included in your packet. The accommodate and adapt character area is
described by the plan as an area highly vulnerable to flooding but may occasionally include new elevated
structures. Acknowledge and conserve is described as low-lying areas that are not suitable for development
or areas that are susceptible to natural hazards and inundation. Again, those inserts from the land use plan
go into a little more detail than just those brief one-liners. Following policies and objectives relevant to this
application and the CAMA land use plan. Policy 3.1, manage land use and development to minimize primary
and secondary impacts on resources and existing residents through standards for development. Policy 4.1
encourages the preservation of maritime forests, flood plains, marshes, and wetlands through development
regulations and land protection initiatives. Policy 4.3 enhance tree cover in the town of Kitty Hawk, 5.1
utilize the future land use map, storm surge maps, flood exposure maps, wetlands assessments, and
projected sea level rise and flood vulnerability data when considering rezoning and development request
and policy 12.1 continue to be a destination for family-oriented tourism. The special use findings as listed
inspection 42-100 (B)(8) of the zoning ordinance. In order to approve the application, the town council
must make findings that the proposed special use, does not materially endanger the public health or safety,
does meet all required conditions and specifications, will not substantially injure the value adjoining
property or be a public nuisance, and will be in harmony with the area in which it's located, and be in
general conformity with comprehensive claim. That will be all for my overview.

Walker: Thank you.

Varnell, Casey: Do you guys have any questions for Rob?

Pruitt: | do. Rob, the definition just as you were reading it says common sanitary and laundry facilities. Can
you clarify laundry facilities?

Testerman, Rob: The ordinance doesn't have a specific definition for laundry facility there. | guess basic
understanding would be an area to wash and dry clothes.

Pruitt: Correct. | mean | looked up the definition and that is what it does consist of a washing machine and
dryer. Is there anywhere on here that was designed for that?

Testerman, Rob: Not that | have seen in the narrative of the plan. Possibly the applicants could speak more
to that.

Pruitt: Okay. All right. That's it.

Hines: That makes a question for me. Is there a certain amount of water per gallon per day for laundry
facility?

Testerman, Rob: That would be health department. It may increase the septic meet needs, but you know,
septic or the health department, they do all the septic permitting. They would have to make the compliance
standards.

Hines: Thank you.

Varnell, Casey: Rob, for the public edification, when you say health department, you're referring to Dare
County?

Testerman, Rob: Yes, Dare County Environmental Health.

Tillett: Rob, has a plan has this plan or a similar plan of this nature been presented to the town in the past?
Testerman, Rob: Not this plan but | believe it was about 10 years ago or so. | think I looked at it in
September of 2015. There was a plan for a mobile home or manufactured home park in this area. That
ended up being denied based on a specific requirement in our ordinance for manufactured home parks that
would not be in flood prone areas and all within the AE flood zone. That was the basis for that denial. That
same standard is not written into the RV park standards and ordinances. That was the only other proposal
that has occurred in the past 11 years, | guess.

Mantz: Rob, | know you mentioned the moving of the recreation facility. Is there any zoning town municipal
guidance on what can go on top of a septic field?

Testerman, Rob: That would be regulated by the environmental health department as well. | think it would
be very limited. I don’t know. I'm not an expert on that.

5]Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Varnell, Casey: Is there an attorney present for the applicant? | was going to | didn't want to sell you short.
If you have any questions for Rob, please do.

Hornik, Robert: Madam Mayor, members of the council, I'm Bob Hornik from the law firm in Chapel Hill. I'm
representing the applicant, the developer here. Rob, it's nice to see you in person. | just have a couple of
questions. And it's really with respect to the communication you had today with environmental health.
Who was it at the environmental health office you spoke to?

Testerman, Rob: It was Josh Coltrain.

Hornik, Robert: Had you reached out to him and he called you back?

Testerman, Rob: Yes, | reached out to him based on a question that | had received from Councilman Dylan
Tillett.

Hornik, Robert: Very good. Thank you. | want to make one other comment. There was a letter that was
read into the record here today. This is a quasi-judicial hearing. | have no opportunity to cross-examine
whoever sent that letter about standing or about any of the other issues or expertise that they may have or
may not have. | object to that letter being part of the record that you consider for this hearing because we
don't know if it's not substantial, it's not confident, it's not material, there's no ability to cross-examine. So |
just want to make sure | get that on the record.

Varnell, Casey: So you guys again, as | said, are the decision makers. | will note a couple things here. The
letter was asked to be read into public comment not this hearing. So there's one issue as | see it. The other
Mr. Hornik is correct. It’s a quasi-judicial proceeding as | said we step up in the formalities. If you want to
speak you've got to meet certain requirements at least as far as what you guys consider to be substantial
material competent but being here is part of the process. So, just as with any other witness, they can be
cross-examined by Mr. Hornik. Now, what is he's asking, if I'm not mistaken here, is that you guys
essentially disregard what was said. So, if that's something you guys want to do, then that is certainly
something that's within your discretion.

Walker: So, that letter should not influence our decision.

Varnell, Casey: That is what Mr. Hornick is saying.

Hornik, Robert: | realize you can't un-ring the bell, you know, but | just want to make sure that | have on
the record my request that you not consider that as part of your consideration on the application. One
other last kind of administrative point that | want to make and it's a little bit delicate | suppose but I'm
going to ask it anyway. | want to ask the board, you're a council, right? That's the same. | represent a bunch
of different towns and they're boards, councils, alderman, it gets confusing, but in a quasi-judicial hearing
especially and as elected officials, | want to make sure that we do a conflict check and that is that no
member of the council, none of the elected officials have any conflict of interest with respect to this
application. There's a specific statutory definition of conflict of interest with respect to the governing board.
Governing board members shall not vote on any legislative decision regarding the development regulation
adopted pursuant to this chapter and where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably
likely to have a direct substantial and readily identifiable financial impact on the members. Any board that
exercises quasi-judicial functions pursuant to this chapter, this is Chapter 160 of the general statutes, shall
not participate in or vote on any quasi-judicial matter that would violate a person's constitutional rights as
an impartial decision maker. So, | just want to make sure 1 do this at every hearing that | attend to make
sure that we've considered whether anybody’s got conflict of interest and if so, put it on record and have
the council decide whether the conflict requires recusal or excuses. So, that's the last of my preliminary
stuff. What I'd like to do at this point is introduce John Delucia, who | think you all know.

Varnell, Casey: Bob, if | may, do any of the council members feel as though you have a conflict of interest?
Hines: | think this board would have already recused itself had it had a member of that one.

Varnell, Casey: For the record, as Mr. Hornik said, the consensus is no.

All Council members indicated that there is no conflict of interest in this matter.

6|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

*zi—
Varnell, Casey: Thank you. Perfect.

Hornik, Robert: At this point I'd like to introduce John Delucia, who's the design engineer on the project,
who can talk to you a little bit about the application about the plans about compliance with some of the
requirements etc.

Delucia, John: Happy new year everybody. It's nice to be in front of you again. My name is John Delucia. I'm
an engineer. I've been practicing engineering here on the Outer Banks for 40 years now. I'm a citizen of
Kitty Hawk and I've done engineering for you all on occasions and we appreciate that. We spent a lot of
time early on looking at a feasibility study for this campground, we laid some things out. We met with the
chief of police to see if there were any issues going on back there. | met with Rob several times. We wanted
to make sure that we brought a product that was acceptable to the town. We've met the ordinance. Dylan,
I'm not sure why Josh would have said that we couldn't have passive recreational on top of that drain field.
I mean, we have the drain fields for the Cape Hatteras school under the foothall field. We have the drain
fields for the Episcopal Church in Southern Shores under the playground for the daycare center. So, we'll
get that worked out. There are other areas on the plan where we could show that we could have other
passive recreational uses. We met with the health department. It was felt that the multiple smaller drain
fields were more suitable than a large drain field that they have. We also designed the drain fields to
accommodate the larger trailers 240 gallons per RV. The standards are only 125 gallons per RV. So, we've
gone above and beyond because we know that the RVs, the people that drive it today are carrying more
than two people in. We added extra parking spaces so there wouldn't be a parking issue on the site. We
have preserved over 25% of the land where we’re not touching it. We had all the oak trees and the nice
hard woods located on property and we've tried to work around most of them. We have left a 30-foot
buffer along Ash Creek. We have provided the bathhouse. We can put a laundry machine in it. Laundry
machines, depending on where machines can go from typically what goes in an RV park is not a commercial
washing machine. It's typically what we would consider like our residential washing machines. They are not
producing a whole lot of wastewater these days. They're being very efficient; we have raised the roadway
elevations and the pad elevations up to above the base flood elevation. So any of the RVs that are parked
on the site will be above the AE4. It's not above the community flood which is eight which we know that.
We understand about the mobility of the units; we understand that they must be movable and they must
be roadworthy. The owner who you'll hear from in a few minutes has run the existing RV park there for the
last 10 years. They've cleaned it up over the last 10 years. | can remember when that was not a very
desirable piece of property to go on to years ago. But what they've done seems to have really dressed it up.
We are next door to Ms. Baum’s property which isn't looking very good. | can just say that. We're kind of
tucked back into the Ash Swamp area back to and this backs up to the existing trailer park that's there, the
existing RV park that is there. In a minute I'm going to call up Greg Bourne, who will tell you a little bit
about the value or lack of, say that the proposed plan will not materially endanger or damage the adjacent
property owners. With that, I'm going to take questions.

Hines: John, did when you meet with Josh Coltrain, did he indicate to you that this project would be
approved by Dare County Environmental Health?

Delucia, John: We already have permits. We have approved permits for the approval. Yes, the soil
evaluation. We've been meeting with Robert Preston about this.

Hines: Understood. So you have soil evaluations, but you don't have full approval yet?

Delucia, John: Correct. We have soil evaluations. We have provided these plans to the county. The only
thing that they'll need to do is purchase the actual separate permit to install.

Hines: Right. But the soil samples would indicate if you needed 10 inches of fill, 20 or whatever. Then my
next question would be why it would not be considered a commercial use on laundry facility if it's
commercial use by right or not by right, but by what it is.

Delucia, John: What I'm saying is we wouldn’t be installing a commercial machine. We'd be installing a
residential machine that doesn't use as much.

7]|Page Town Counci! Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Hines: So again I'm going to ask the same question. You have done site evaluations, but you don't have an
actual septic permit yet.

Delucia, John: We have approval.

Hornik, Robert: We have an approval email, and we have a soil evaluation. You would have to issue |
believe 18 systems, so it was 18 permits.

Hines: Okay. So, let me ask another way. You go down there tomorrow and get all 18 if you have paid for
them. You will get all 18 tomorrow.

Hornik, Robert: Yes.

Hines: Okay. Thank you.

Hornik, Robert: He has reviewed the designs and plans.

Delucia, John: He is speaking of Mike Morway. He's a professional engineer here in North Carolina, has
worked with me for 24 years. He's very good at what he does.

Varnell, Casey: John, for the sake of the record, do you adopt his answers?

Delucia, John: Yes.

Tillett: Mr. Delucia, | have a question. During your design, did you consider the fact that the town ordinance
states every park shall be provided with an approved community sewage disposal system? | heard what you
said about the individual systems, and they're oversized and that's great. Thank you for doing that, but the
ordinance states shall be a community sewage disposal system. In my mind, that's a centralized collection
and treatment system or a package treatment plant.

Delucia, John: I'm more concerned about failures of those larger systems. You know, if system fails, then
the whole park closes. If you have a failure of a smaller system, that's a gravity system that's designed for
twice the amount of sewage that should be expected to go there, | find that that's a better design. And
talking with the health department, they felt it was a better design, too. If we did central sewage, we'd be
cutting every tree out on this property. You know, we wouldn't be able to work with them because, you
know, how it is.

Tillett: My concern is that there's a spot that or a handful of spots that end up being the favorite spots and
they're going to get over usage and then five spots down, you're going to get an old couple that barely uses
any water. In a centralized system, you get equalized flow through that. One's using a bunch, another one's
not using that much, and it levels out. | have concerns that if it's concentrated with just two spots like that,
you're going to get you might get a peak flow in some of them.

Delucia, John: That's why we've oversized the system. | mean, rather than setting them up for 120 gallons
per campsite, we set them up for 240 gallons per campsite. So, each one of those systems can handle 480
gallons. Two of them connected, 240 gallons per day.

Tillett: So, those are 480 gallons per day systems, your design?

Delucia, John: Yes, sir.

Tillett: | have another question if you don't mind. During your design, did you notice the road length? Now,
the ordinance states it's measured from the park entrance.

Delucia, John: Well, | would like to ask you where the park entrance is. It's not The Woods Road. It's not
Twiford.

Tillett: What's your interpretation of the entrance?

Delucia, John: Well, you have got to go across Ms. Baum's property. You would start the measurement on
the south side of Ms. Baum's property that has those little trailers on it right there and it would be under
1,000 ft.

Tillett: No, | understand that. But my concern with that would be if you keep measuring what's new, what's
to stop a developer from going a thousand foot, another thousand foot, another thousand foot, another
thousand foot every single submittal. Before you know it, we've got a mile long road and you're only
measuring from the new stuff. We don't have to go into that hypothetical question, not case specific

8|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Delucia, John: You know when we looked at that when you look at where you enter the park. When you
pass Ms. Baum's trailer. That's under a thousand feet if you measure to the right.

Tillett: The second portion of that requirement is all roads designed to be permanently closed shall have a
turnaround at the closed end with a minimum right-of-way diameter of 80 feet, a cul-de-sac. Is there a
reason that you went with the hammerhead or the T design?

Delucia, John: Just because all the steps generate a whole lot more runoff and a whole lot more land and
typically a hammer head is suitable for the fire department to be able to turn around.

Tillett: How about the garbage disposal trucks or the RVs trying to turn around at the end?

Delucia, John: We're not expecting to see garbage trucks go up past all these campsites.

Tillett: They've got to get into the site. Is that correct? To dump the dumpster, right? And the pad is
oriented, you've got to come, you got to go into the site, turn around, and come out. Is that correct? So,
you're turning around somewhere. My other concern is what’s already been mentioned, the recreational
area. | know the ordinance is vague on that. My thought is the intention of it is a playground or horseshoe
pits or at a minimum, picnic tables, a community gathering but most of those features require subsurface
anchors and nothing subsurface needs to go into that wastewater drain field. Is that correct?

Delucia, lohn: Nothing should go into the drain field area. Right. | mean we're not planning on putting the
playground there. We're not planning on putting a swimming pool there. We could put picnic tables on it,
we could put cornhole boards on it, we could do a little disc golf area on it. Like | said, I'm not sure why the
health department made that comment, especially knowing that we put the drain for Cape Hatteras
football field. You know, we had anticipated that passing. | mean, other things that could be done. | mean,
this area is that up on. Can you see that? We could use that for recreation. We could put a trail all the way
around the property. We can comply with that if the health department has an issue with us having some
green space there. We all have drain fields in our backyard, but we plan, right?

Tillett: | would imagine there's exceptions, but the intent is no activity on a drain field is my understanding.
Delucia, John: The intent is no subsurface activity on it would be just a green lawn.

Tillett: Right, and the last point | just want to make public is going back to the wastewater system. The
ordinance does state an approved community sewage disposal system. Approved means that | would prefer
to see permits in hand prior to deciding on that.

Delucia, John: But why would you want why would you want the developer to have to spend 18 different
systems? You know, you look at $18,000 to buy permits before you give your approval. That doesn't make
sense.

Tillett: | understand it's a risk. I’'m just reading the ordinance. That's all I'm doing. That's all the questions |
have for right now.

Pruitt: | have one, John. In the ordinance it says that the camping shall be a temporary quarter during
recreation, vacation, leisure time, or travel and shall not be used for permanent living quarters. It says
temporary. The applicant in the very next sentence says rent spaces on long term. So it seems like to me
that the ordinance was to make it so people didn't leave things for a long period of time. Leading up to the
next question is who's going to be responsible when suddenly, we have a storm and half of them aren't
moved. Who's going to be when they end up in Ash Swamp? | was on the board when the question of long
term was brought up with mobile parks. | think this is the third time maybe it might have been when | was
on the Planning Board before George Wood and the crowd came years ago. So who's going to be
responsible? At that time we were worried about the washing and now if they're left, we have oil and
everything. It is almost to me more of environmental risk than we were when we were talking about the
campers that basically were towed in on a vehicle and left where now we're talking about vehicles being
left permanently.

Delucia, John: I'm going to let Mr. Cashin discuss how they run their business and how they do screenings
on people and that they rent by the month. Basically, it's a monthly that people can stay on and I'll let him
address that in a few minutes.

9|Pasge Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



S
(A

|¢1?- -

i

TOWN OF
S/ KITTY HAWK

Pruitt: Nowhere in there says you can't stay more than one month you know say | come in there monthly it
| want to stay for three years, 36 months | mean, that's permanent.

Delucia, John: The intention is not to have these permanent residences and that's the intention When you
look at the ordinance, what is a permitted use on this property, multifamily are permitted use on this
property. | could put 24 or 25 three-bedroom or four-bedroom muitifamily units on this piece of property. |
think that's far more dangerous for flooding issues because you aren’t going to have cars moving and you're
not going to have you're going to have people up on stills obviously, but with the pads raised up to a 5-ft
elevation and know that the RVs are usually about that high off the ground. We are probably going to be
somewhere around seven for the lower levels of those of those RV if they're left there. I've seen water at
my house up to six and a half. I've seen water at my house maybe up to seven maybe for a very short
period. | don't think that's going to be a problem. I really don't.

Hines: May | follow up with Jeff, please? You say that's not the intention, but intentions can change, right?
Delucia, John: | think that the ordinance speaks to reporting and having records available. | think Rob
addressed that to you just a little bit ago. We're going to have to compile that.

Hines: Then my question would be for | guess Casey next. | don't even know if you can do this. Would you
be willing to put a condition in there that would be short-term and not used long-term? Are you allowed
to? Well, because | don't like the word intention, you know, my intention could be not to go to work
tomorrow.

Varnell, Casey: The flood damage prevention ordinance requires no greater than 180 days. So, in theory, it
can't be there for more than 180 days. It's not permanent. | mean, | don't think anybody would be able to
make the argument that something in existence for only 180 days is a permanent place of living, right? But
is your question, could you put a condition on there that says can't be rented for more than 30 days.

Hines: No, | mean, if the 180 days kind of negates the permanent intention changing whatever I'm trying to
say, then I'm okay with it.

Varnell, Casey: Well, yes, from an ordinance perspective, from where I'm sitting, right, it's about
enforcement. Would that provide us with an enforcement mechanism to go and enforce someone who's
there for longer than 180 days if we're aware? Absolutely. Yes.

Mantz: If I'm not mistaken, the code right now says that in that flood zone you can go up to a year as long
as it has trailer ability, you know, meaning some point you have to take it off and get it inspected and get
your inspection, tie downs and all kinds of stuff with hurricanes.

Hines: That's all I have. Thank you.

Mantz: Just a couple of follow-ups, back to the septic. | understand nothing, you know, subsurface
activation. Is there any EPA guidance or anything on this? Since we're waiting for the permits to come back
from Dare County, is there any EPA guidance on what should or shouldn't happen on a septic field?
Delucia, John: There are state regulations on drain fields.

Mantz: As far as what can go on top. Most of the time what I've ever seen, it's you don't even want to put a
picnic table necessarily. The more you compact it down, it gets compacted and then you have problems. I'm
okay with moving the recreation facility behind the bathhouse, but we’ve got now 18 separate systems in
between trailers. Is there anything that's going to prevent people from walking on top of those, putting on
picnic tables, sinking volleyball nets in all those septic fields? You see what I'm saying? And because that's
the only space between some of those trailers is a septic field. So, you walk out your door, and you've got a
septic field, right? Well you have a handful.

Delucia, John: So, right. So, you've got some open space where you're not on the drain field. No, | mean, we
all have drain fields in our house and we all use our yards, and we all go out of our yards and recreate. Sure.
You know, it's no different than that.

Mantz: Our septic tank absorption rate here on the Outer Banks at large is intense. So, anything we can do
to shore up and protect that, especially next to a swamp and at an already low-level area where 1 think the
table was 30 inches down to hit water, | think on some of the soil samples. | think we noticed that there

10|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

was a lot of fill being brought in to adapt and probably make these pads but then again you know part of
CAMA says that you shouldn't be adjusting the fill so much on some of these areas especially in the
wetlands.

Delucia, John: CAMA has not taken jurisdiction of the swamp, they have agreed if we stayed out of 30-foot
buffer that we would be compliant with the rules and regulations and we kept out of that.

Mantz: That was my next question leading in and so the areas of environmental concern that come in.
What is that 75-ft | think back from the water if I'm not mistaken that crosses over some of those septic
pieces.

Delucia, John: That can’t be any closer than 50.

Mantz: So it doesn't matter if it's in that AEC zone. How about on the road setback of 10 feet? You know,
some of them cross over those western lots, the road set back.

Delucia, John: We initially were told that they were going to take jurisdiction. Then we were told that they
were going to take jurisdiction as public trust waters, not CAMA waters, not so the 75-foot setback went
away. Even though it's still shown on the plan, it has gone away since we’ve submitted the plan to you.
George Wood is working with us also on compliance with any of the regulations.

Mantz: So does that supersede our land use plan? Well, our land use calls out the AEC lines as far as septic.
Then switching gears, we're talking a little bit earlier about the traffic, not having the presentation of the
existing RV park then and the entrance shown here. There's only one entrance in and one entrance out.
How many lots are in the existing park?

Delucia, John: 30.

Mantz: 30, okay. There's no requirement NC DOT or anything that you're aware of that requires more than
one ingress egress point for safety or anything like that.

Delucia, John: No.

Hines: | just have one more follow up to you and on Councilman Tillett’s question and | didn't really hear
the whole question, so | apologize when you're asking about the septic the 18 permits or whatever and you
were speaking about that being expensive to do.

Delucia, John: Especially if we don't have approval by this council.

Hines: Well, we can approve it and the health department can deny it and vice versa.

Delucia, John: But the health department has already approved the plan that we've given.

Hines: That's where I'm confused by Councilman Tilllet's question to you. Why spend the money? You're
saying if we don't approve it, why go spend the money.

Delucia, John: Exactly. Why spend $18,000 for permits that you can't use?

Tillett: What | was pointing out is that our ordinance requires approved permits. Correct. The way | read it, |
mean.

Hines: | interpret it the same way.

Delucia, John: Well, and that can be a condition of approvail here.

Tillett: Can you elaborate on Mr. Wood's findings? It's so the 75 AEC is no longer valid.

Delucia, John: He talked to Ron Renaldi, the director up there, and he’s convinced that it's still public trust
water. So, we still need to maintain the 30-foot vegetated buffer there, but we didn't necessarily need to
g0. We were prepared to go and do a CAMA major permit on this. | don't know actually because of the
workload right now. It's a gorgeous draw to allow us to just call public trust waters and to stay out of the
AEC and we'll be fine. We wouldn't need a CAMA permit.

Tillett: Stay out of the AEC?

Delucia, John: Stay out of the 30-foot.

Tillett: The road width heading towards starting from the park entrance to this. | know the road you've
designed is 26. | think that's great.

11 |Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Delucia, John: We did 26 because of the 90° backing it. it makes it a little bit easier to be able to do that.
Tillett: Do you know the minimum road width heading all the way to The Woods Road? If there's any
portions that are less than 20-ft wide.

Delucia, John: | don't think there are because when we did the development that was called Heron Harbor
years ago that had 30 or 40 units on it and big wastewater system. We were clearing everything and | know
we put that that first section of roadway in was gravel.

Walker: Is that everything for Mr. Delucia?

Pruitt: | have a couple more. John, earlier you said that the entrance goes through Baum’s property. Is that
a deeded easement?

Delucia, John: Yes, that's an easement, not a right-of-way.

Pruitt: | don't know if | can backup. I'm just kind of wondering about this much development through an
easement. If that instead of a right-of-way if this is going through a private piece of property on an
easement instead if they have a clear right-of-way.

Varnell, Casey: If they have road frontage in other words.

Pruitt: Dot Baum's property goes all the way across their entrance. | don't know the agreement, but |
caught that when you said that when you were as you're not starting because you said the park starts on
Baum’s property. So, I'm wondering what kind of agreement or if the town has an ordinance that you can’t
develop that much through an easement or it is, you know, | remember when the RV park was going to be
put in another area. They said they couldn't do it through an easement and at that time the town took it
over as a state street and enabled them to develop that property. But before then there was a clause that
they couldn't develop it because it was going through an easement not a right-of-way. Now I'm not sure
that it would be something | would like to ask.

Varnell, Casey: Rob would probably be better receiver of that question.

Pruitt: | maybe should have asked it earlier. | didn’t catch it until | caught John.

Testerman, Rob: I'm not aware of any ordinances that we have that would restrict the amount
development through an easement. | think the prior ones that you might be talking about might be before |
got here, but for subdividing land, you must have road frontage on a public or private right-of-way. A
subdivision wouldn’t allow an easement to go through to access it. That that's the only scenario | can think
of.

Delucia, John: Typically, Jeff, if the easement is wide enough to accommodate the minimum size roadway
section which the roadway is already down. I'm not aware of everything either. Go ahead.

Pruitt: | don't know. Sometimes there’s gentleman agreements and deeds and all that you know. The next
question is usually when we change a town ordinance, we must go back for a text amendment to change it.
We just can't do it on a whim here tonight. It seems like to me that I've heard some things here that Dylan
has brought up that our code says that they must have even though you and the health department say
otherwise. It seems to me that we have a code that would have to go back through the text amendment
process to say that the county thinks that it’s better. That’s just the way it is.

Delucia, John: These septic systems will be owned by the park. It is a community system; they are not
owned individually whether it's a treatment plant and we level all the trees on the property to put it in or
we try to fit in little, small drain field. | think that it’s still a community system, that’s my opinion. It’s not
individual septic systems; it's modules of the community system.

Varnell, Casey: John, tacking on since Councilman Tillett and now Councilman Pruitt brought up issues
concerning the septic. In Rob's report he's got RV park shall provide at least one sewage dumping station
approved by the health department. He then notes that septic systems have been approved throughout the
park instead of a sewage dumping station. Now, he notes that it's effectively the same, but what's the
difference in a sewage dumping system, which is required by this code, and a septic system?

Delucia, John: We wouldn't necessarily have to put any septic systems on the site at all. | mean, most of the
trailers holding tanks. When they come in, they dump them. When they leave, they dump them. What we

12|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

have found and what the state has found is a lot of times those dumping stations are more toxic if you will
than the individual stations because people are, you know, people are holding up and they're dumping it.
Effectively we have 18 dumping stations for the people that are going to be using the RV park then we have
a drain field for the bath house which is a conventional LP system.

Varnell, Casey: |'ve been to a few RV parks, not too many. I've taken road trips to football games with my
friends. We don't really know what we're doing, but we’ve gotten hooked up when we got to the RV park.
As far as the dumping station, | think, is concerned. Would that just be a spot where you would a single
location where many RVs would pull up, dump their sewage? Or any RV? Is that the difference between
what you're saying are these individual septic systems versus a prototypical sewage dumping station?
Delucia, John: People that come to this RV park will be able to hook up their RVs and we're looking at RVs
that are sort of bigger RVs, if you will. They won't need to have tanks. They won't need to have the
chemical treatment that you have to put in the holding tanks to keep them smelling good and things like
that to keep them sanitary. We won't have that potential for additional pollution into the ground water.
We could eliminate all those septic systems and have one dump station there and one huge field. That's not
the right way to do this.

Varnell, Casey: That's what | was getting at. That would be this one system would be the sewage dumping
station. That's what | was trying to figure out the difference in the two.

Mantz: So in this case, the septic provides a better long-term rental. They'll have to get up every few days
and move their RV to dump and then come back. I've been to a few RV parks, too.

Delucia, John: More of a buffer and you have a smaller flow going into multiple areas rather than a larger
flow. { mean, if we had to put a central system on there and put a wastewater treatment plant on there, we
would load this at not one gallon per minute, but we would load it at three or four gallons per square foot
or whatever. Typically when you treat it higher, you don't have to put as big a drain to it. | think that with
the health department and my conversation early on, they preferred the individual systems. They asked if
we would go to 240 gallons per site rather than 120 gallons which we agreed to do, with two RVs on each
system. If a system does have a problem, it doesn't put the whole park out of operation. If it does have a
problem, it's easy to fix because it's a gravity system. Ray Casper can come in and fix it in half the time.
Mantz: Which is good, but the only con is the daily flow adjustments and making sure that, as Mr. Tillett
said, some spots aren’t overused. Some would stay empty when nobody comes and but like you said the
tanks are larger so that's helpful there.

Hines: I'm not trying to be hung up on this. | might 99 out of 100 people may not care. Any reason why y'all
didn't attach a copy of the site evaluations from the health department?

Delucia, John: No one asked for it.

Testerman, Rob: Mr. Wood did send it previously because Dare County Health is the approving authority
on that. | didn't think it was necessary to include it in our package.

Hines: Did everything look okay to you?

Testerman, Rob: Yes.

Tillett: Mr. Delucia, | have another question. Rob mentioned an option for the park operator to periodically
submit park registers to the town and that would state numerous things like keeping track of length of stays
and things like that. Is there a park manager office that you anticipated? Is there an employee for this
development or who is that person?

Delucia, John: Right now, there's not because we don't have a bath house on the other on the first phase of
what's there now. | mean, with the bath house, we're going to have somebody there daily to check on
things. I'll let Mr. Cashin address that when he comes up and talks.

Pruitt: Casey, | have a question again. It's the same question. I'm just going to leave the septic now. I'll go to
the cul-de-sac. That's a town ordinance. And once again, that's not a cul-de-sac. Can we change at a whim,
or do you have to change the ordinance? Do we have to go back and go before the Planning Board and
change to a text amendment to change the ordinance? It's not that | agree or disagree with any. It's just in

13|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

the ordinance through a text amendment so that it accommodated the ordinance. People have come for
certain things, and they've gone back and made a text amendment, and you know I'm just wondering why
text amendments weren't done before the change knowing that our ordinance required it.

Varnell, Casey: |'ve got turnaround is what I'm reading here, at least in Rob's report. If you want to
elaborate because you wrote this, you did note that rather than the 80-ft diameter right-of-way
turnaround, there's a T-shaped terminus. So, is it that a cul-de-sac is required or what's the differentiation
you were making there, Rob?

Testerman, Rob: The language in the ordinance says cul-de-sacs or dead-end roads shall not exceed 1,000
feet in length measured from the entrance to the center of the turnaround. Any road designed to be
permanently closed shall have a turnaround at the closed end with a minimum right-of-way diameter of 80-
ft.

Varnell, Casey: Right, then so what's when you stated rather than an 80-foot diameter right-of-way
turnaround? Well, do you see any deviation, if you will, based on this site plan from what our ordinance
requires? | guess that's my question.

Testerman, Rob: | guess the way that it reads, | mean, an 80-foot diameter turn if it's over. Any road
designed to be permanently closed, no road shall exceed, any road designed to be permanently closed has
turnaround. It reads to me the 80-foot diameter holes turn around. | guess it’s up to council intent.
Varnell, Casey: So then you're just telling me that they do not meet the 80-foot diameter right-of-way
turnaround requirement? | won't even say requirement because | don't want to influence. But the language
within the ordinance says 80-ft right-of-way turnaround. Is that met based on this site plan?

Delucia, John: It's not a road, it's a driveway.

Testerman, Rob: The way it reads to me that would not be 80-ft diameter.

Delucia, John: | mean theoretically we could make an 80-ft diameter by going down into that area to the
east of the road there. There's enough room there to put one, but I just don't see any reason why to do
that.

Pruitt: But we must go by the ordinance, John. It's not a matter if we see a need. | agree with what you're
saying, but our ordinance doesn't. For me to decide, the ordinances must be changed. | must go by the
rules here. | can't just because somebody says they think it's a better idea. We have ordinances that we
have to go by right now and procedures to change them if they're not, you know.

Delucia, John: Okay, we'll put an 80-foot diameter radius up there. Bring it back to you.

Walker: You're going to have to give up two spots.

Delucia, John: Maybe, maybe not. I think this area that we talked about maybe right here, if | took this
roadway and looped around here, | think | could get probably 80 ft in there. | think | probably could get it
but we're going to be adding more pavement to it. If that's what we want to do, make it a condition that we
put an 80-foot radius there and we'll come ahead with it. We lose a spot; we lose a spot.

Pruitt: Or is it easier to go for a text amendment? You see what I'm saying? I'm not picking the way you go.
I'm just saying I'm left with a decision here that leaves me in a predicament that | must prove something
that is not in our code. That's difficult for me to do whether 1 like it or not.

Hines: Well, and | need to add to that because then we're setting the tone for something else down the
road if we don't follow the ordinance.

Pruitt: I've just never changed an ordinance without going through a text amendment.

Delucia, John: Well, let me put a cul-de-sac on the end of that road there and then be done with it.

Pruitt: Then there we would have to go to the definition of the septic to see if you consider the separate
ones. I'm not sure who would decide that. Maybe we would have to have an engineer for the town to
decide that. It's just the ordinances that I'm having a problem with. They seem to be not complying. That's
all | have.

14|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Hines: | have a question for Casey. In light of what he just said, | mean, if he says he can add something to
it,  mean, we still are. We're not really following procedure of a text amendment though, right? Or just are
we allowed to say that's okay or not?

Varnell, Casey: So that's a good question. First and foremost, | will note to Councilman Pruitt's comments,
here that one of the requirements obviously is that all the specifications and conditions of our ordinance be
met. If there weren't “shalls” in front of all these items, whether it's a better way to do it, a more modern
way to do it, | wouldn't have as much heartburn. Not because of this project. Every special use permit is site
specific. We're not setting a precedent. That's as to what could or could not be approved as far as RV parks
in the future. But my heartburn is that if we start ignoring “shalls” in special use permit or quais-judicial
hearings, what precedent does it set by just ignoring the “shall”? That’s my problem. Not what the “shall”,
not what follows “shall”. What precedent are we creating by ignoring the “shall”? That is my issue, now can
you guys make as a condition. Rob, if you don't mind, this is more for you. If this council were to make as a
condition, for example this turnaround issue the 80-foot diameter turnaround and they make a condition
that it be shown because it still must be a commercial site plan. Is that correct?

Testerman, Rob: Correct.

Varnell, Casey: You must approve that and then does that come back to council?

Testerman, Rob: A larger change like that would probably not be a conditional approval, | would say
probably table until they can show that and then decide after.

Varnell, Casey: That's why | wanted you up here. So that that answers Councilman Hines' question, which is
instead of just saying here it's approved with this condition, you're saying you as the town planner would
prefer a tabling mechanism and then have it shown on a plan, right?

Testerman, Rob: Yes, have the conditions of approval and then bring it back to verify that those conditions
are being met.

Varnell, Casey: So, kind of a hybrid, if you will. Like, in other words, here’s what we want to see. We're not
going to make a formal decision on approval tonight, but if you meet these conditions, bring us a plan back.
Well, so tabling with conditions. Does that answer your question, David?

Hines: Yes, sir, it does.

Mantz: Council, in a judicial hearing, are you allowed to introduce new evidence? So, if you were to adjust
and bring it back, is that considered new evidence?

Varnell, Casey: Well, but it would be fine because you guys make the decision to obey the hearing.

Hines: | don't look like I'm for or against anything, but I'm following what Councilman Tillett's concerns and
Councilman Pruitt's concerns. Mine have been answered for the most part.

Varnell, Casey: Like | said to Councilman Pruitt's initial points here, my biggest issue is the “shall” and
ignoring that and just saying approve as is. If we've had our planner say, "Well, it actually doesn't meet the
ordinance."

Hines: If it were to be tabled tonight, would they have to go back through the planning board or can they
just come right back?

Varnell, Casey: No, it could come back. So, law changed on that. So, special use permits, planning board,
you don't even have to have planning board review of it, right? Okay. Yes, we do. But the bottom line is the
recommendations that are made by the planning board, they can’t be considered by you guys as a rationale
for approval or denial. So to answer that’s a long way of saying no.

Hines: | just didn't know if it kicked it back another 30 days plus another, you know, 60 days kick back.
Varnell, Casey: Essentially would say it kicks it back until the conditions can be met or shown.

Delucia, John: | must address Councilman Pruitt's concern about septic, and | mean it's a community
system.

Pruitt: | mean there is and that might not be all but we're just hitting on the site plan. We haven't got into
the debate where we were we think if we're dealing with environmental or the land use plan. I'm right now
just concerned about your initial site plan. I'd hate for you all to table this and then come back and do all

15|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

these little changes to the ordinance and still by some reason that you know you feel confident that
everything's kosher and then come in just because we said the cul-de-sac doesn't meet there might be
other factors that other council members consider in the land use plan. They might not think that the even
though the county or whoever is giving you the permits for each septic tank, there might be somebody on
here that didn't like that that thinks they'd rather have the bigger system. So even though you know you
might be able to adjust everything. I'm not sure you know that tabling is the right method. That's just me. |
think that and just to make sure.

Varnell, Casey: So, Councilman Pruitt, are you saying that if this were tabled, if conditions that meet all the
“shalls” within the ordinance were placed on this, if when it came back, council decided that okay, well,
actually, we don't believe that the intent and spirit of the ordinance is met by having this single dumping
station and that maybe a reason for denial. It's why | asked that because if it meets the ordinance, we can't
say it goes against the spirit and intent of the land use plan. In other words, that goes back to where
changing our ordinance if we don't like some of the items that are in it. If we feel as though our ordinance is
outside or maybe antiquated or archaic in some way, not in compliance with our current land use plan,
then that's either us or citizen if you will make that proposition. But all I'm saying here is if we do if you guys
do table place conditions they come back and meet the conditions. We can't say that meeting these
conditions is just because it's not the best way to do it and we can't say it doesn't meet our land use plan. |
guess | could have totally misread you. | just wanted to make sure that is everyone's understanding.

Pruitt: So let me understand, if a councilmember here finds that the land use plan, in preservation of the
maritime forest flood plain marshes wetland through development regulations and land protection, if one
of us was to try to hold their hat on if that is legal or illegal?

Varnell, Casey: So you're going to maybe use the specific location, is that what you mean?

Pruitt: Well, any of the things in here. Even though we asked to meet it on the site plan, can any of these
items that are on the land use plan?

Testerman, Rob: Councilman Pruitt, if | can interrupt for a second? | think you're referring to the standards
that council has defined for the special use permit. So, we're still in the evidentiary hearing. We've only
talked about the site plan part. We're still going to hear about the adjacent property values.

Varnell, Casey: | was certainly going to say let's move forward with the hearing.

Testerman, Rob: | was just saying that if you wanted to table it, that would be assuming the council finds
everything else is okay. So, we're still in the middle of that.

Delucia, John: What would you prefer?

Pruitt: I'm just trying to clear it up. It's not what | prefer, it would be what the council prefers and what the
ordinance requires.

Delucia, John: Well, if we could put a cul-de-sac there.

Pruitt: Then you would meet the ordinance.

Delucia, John: But the community septic systems | contend that they're all owned by the same entity. So it
is a community septic system. It gets away from the dumping station.

Mantz: | could not find any language that identified what a community septic system is specifically. So
unless an engineer or somebody weighed in, | would be happy to say that 18 different septics go towards a
community septic system. I'm not saying that that's the best though, but I'm saying that | would be happy
to call that a community system. But without any kind of legal guidance and an engineer weighing in on,
you know, I'm just talking competent information, | guess.

Varnell, Casey: We don't, to my knowledge, have a definition, do we in our ordinance of community septic?
Delucia, John: | couldn't find it anyway.

Varnell, Casey: | would tend to agree with Councilman Mantz's take on that issue.

Hines: So, if they're owned by an individual though, do they need to be monitored every year?

Mantz: They're not, they're owned by the property.

Varnell, Casey: It's going to be septic. It's going to be Dare County Health permit.

16 |Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Hines: Somebody still must come out once a year and check them.

Delucia, John: Because that are pressure systems there. But for the bathhouse, it will be but the individual
ones are gravity systems just like regular house and there’s not really checked. They should be checked
every 5 years and pumped to get the grease out and solids which is typically what we do here.

Mantz: | have one other question. | couldn't quite find it. Where does the two feet sea level line meet this
property for the 50-year sea level rise? The flood mitigation, risk mitigation there the 50-foot line, the
NOAA 50-year two-foot sea level rise line where does that meet? Does that make sense, Rob, what I'm
talking about.

Delucia, John: | know what you're talking about, but it's typically not something we show on these plans,
nor is it required by the town to show that. So, | mean, right now there’s a grading plan that | don't have in
front of me. That would show what the elevation is.

Mantz: So, we don't know where it is.

Delucia, John: But | mean, we are raising the road elevation and the pattern elevations up to about a 5-foot
elevation.

Mantz: I'm sorry. | didn't mean to confuse, that was a little confusing question.

Varnell, Casey: Anything else for council as of this witness? Mr. Hornik, I'll turn it over to you if you have
any questions for our next witness. | just wanted to make sure you did.

Hornik, Robert: This is Greg Bourne. He's our appraiser, he's going to talk about the important findings that
are required by the ordinance for the special use.

Bourne, Greg: Hi, my name is Greg Bourne. | live at 4893 The Woods Road in Kitty Hawk. I'm a professional
appraiser. I've been appraising Outer Banks for 40 years. | do all kinds of property appraisals, usually the
more complex assignments. I'm a general real estate appraiser, which gives me the qualifications to
appraise any kind of property. I'm also an MAI, which means I'm a member of the appraisals institute,
which is kind of like a step above required to get state certified. I've been down here a long time but, in
this case, what we're trying to find is if this proposed use of The Preserve at Kitty Hawk Woods will have an
adverse or substantial injury to the value of the adjacent properties. What | have done is a study to answer
that question and basically, | will go ahead and tell you my findings and then I'll tell you how | arrived at
them. [ found that the project will not substantially injure the value of property or be a public nuisance
given the development plans within the area. The proposed project will be in harmony within the area that
is located and does not materially endanger the public health and safety. Before | go into the how [ have set
a conclusion, I'll give you an overview of the property that is going to be that's the subject of what we hear
today. Basically, it's 6.21-acre track, about 5.27 acres of that is upland. You have about an acre of wetlands,
which is mostly the Ash Pond, Ash Swamp, you're going to have 32 sites there and the site ranges between
two and a half, four feet above sea level. The soils on the site are both on the upland is primarily fine sand
and mostly fine sand which are moderately well drained to excessively well drained soils. You have a little
bit of a wetland right along the pond but most of the site and where the development is on the uplands.
It'll be 32 sites. Most sites are 12 ft wide by 50 ft long. Although you have a couple that are 12 ft by 40 ft.
Bath house, utility hookups, two parking spaces, and we've gone into detail about it so that the map I've
given you shows and it's basically an enlarged one from page 11. When you put something in the report,
you shrink it small, so it fits. What you have are the surrounding properties, the adjacent properties to the
east you have the existing park which also goes to the north to south and east further down you have five
parcels. Four of them are single family dwellings. One of them is a vacant lot and then across Ash Pond to
the west you have a house on a very large parcel. It's about 9.7 acres. So basically those are the properties.
Most of those houses, especially the ones at the end of Old Schoolhouse Lane, are older properties on
larger lots. Some of them are manufactured housing. You have some warehouses. In fact, the one across
the Ash Pond has about a 2,000 square foot warehouse on it. So, you have a wide array of uses around the
property and across you know of course you have Storage King USA, you have the garden center, you have
the Fred Smith complex. Then further out from that you have other single-family residences and some

17 |Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

vacant land that's part of the preserve. So you know basically if you read the description, | have on pages 10
and 11 that kind of goes along with what I have on the map. The property is zoned VR3 high density
residential village district. And basically to the north, east, and south has the same zoning across the pond
to the west, you have a low-density village residential district. We've gone over what the zoning will allow.
And so basically what | have to do to find out what a difference it makes if there makes any difference in
the value by being adjacent to an RV park, | have to look at sales of properties that are adjacent to a park
and compare them with things that are otherwise similar but not adjacent to the park. To do that, | looked
at basically the three parks in Kitty Hawk. The subject obviously the Kitty Hawk RV Park, Charlie's Family RV
Park. I also looked at the KOA Campground and OBX Campground in Colington and | looked at 13 RV parks
on Hatteras Island where most of our RP RV parks are located. So what | have found is that | research
numerous sales but in these things is kind of difficult because you have got to find a sale next to an RV park
which as we all know the Outer Banks is developed. So you must find sales that occur within the relative
same period of time. | went back as far as 2000 and are similar in this case like lots and size you know the
location and how they compare to each other and I found three that I've included in my report. | have two
on Hatters Island, one next to Ocean Waves Campground and the other one on Hatteras was the Sands of
Time Campground RV Park in Avon Village. Also, | found one next to Charlie's Family RV Park here in Kitty
Hawk. Basically, from looking at those three sales, | found no material difference or substantial difference in
value between a property that's located adjacent to an RV park versus a similar property not located
adjacent to an RV park. That's why | derive my opinion that The Preserve at Kitty Hawks Woods project will
not substantially hinder the value of adjoining property or be a public nuisance and the proposed project
will be in harmony with the area in which it is located and does not materially endanger the public health or
safety.

Pruitt: I'll start. When you say in harmony, explain the definition of what you're talking about. What's in
harmony?

Bourne, Greg: The proposed project is obviously in harmony like what surrounds it. Obviously, it's adjacent
to an existing RV park.

Pruitt: But not in harmony with nature. You're talking about in harmony with surrounding uses like you
know the existing portion. But just buildings, specifically your definition of harmony, doesn’t mean they fit
in with the actual area that it's in. You're just saying it’s got similar buildings around it.

Bourne, Greg: Like from a drone or something down at the site of the picture you just look at what's around
it. You have an existing park. You have single family dwellings. You have manufactured homes on lots. You
have warehouses. You have to the north of the property; you have an abandoned manufactured home at
one time. You have got a camper. They have got some vehicles. They're all overgrown. This proposal and
the expansion, in my opinion, is in harmony with those uses that surround it.

Pruitt: The uses.

Bourne, Greg: Yes, sir.

Pruitt: Okay. But you're not staying to an environmental standard at all. You have your expertise is just right
now you're just saying that the it won't endanger the value of the property next door.

Bourne, Greg: Yes, sir.

Pruitt: So the harmony I'm not sure and it's highlighted. it is kind of in harmony, they're all different. | mean
there's not a mobile park next to it. Like you said, | don't see what harm it would be. | agree. It's not going
to hurt the value of the property. | agree 100%. But I'm not sure. I'm kind of confused about the harmony
issue of whether you're saying this whole project fits on this piece of property or are you here to tell me
that it's not going to hurt the value.

Bourne, Greg: I'm here to tell you it's not going to hurt the value. Okay. In that regard it's in harmony. It
would not be a use that would not be anticipated into their surrounding properties. In that sense, it's in
harmony.

18| Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Walker: Don't you think it's kind of difficult to compare something that's oceanfront to where this is
located?

Bourne, Greg: Well, what you want to do is you want to look and, you know, in a perfect world, I'd have a
sale right next to the park, right? A thousand feet away, I'd have another sale. They'd be identical. Then
that way I can look at them and say, "Oh, the only difference is next to the park and one’s not.”
Unfortunately, this is the Outer Banks, and most of the property is already developed. So, if I'm looking for
one aspect, right, and that is being next to an RV park is a detriment or has been an adverse to the
adjoining property or adjacent property. | can compare as long as I'm holding the factors the same. One's
adjacent to RV park another is not but they're similar in every other way. Then | can say okay ['ve isolated
that one factor that says being adjacent does not harm that one.

Hines: I'm going to jump in there on page four where you do your general assumptions and limiting
conditions. I’'m a 23-year licensed real estate broker; 1 get your extraordinary assumptions and assumptions
that you must make. However, I'm going back off number one, but on number eight, you say it is assumed
that all applicable zoning and use regulation restrictions have been complied with unless a non-conformity
has been stated, defined, and considered in the appraisal report. Wouldn't that kind of tie back into
Councilman Pruitt's concerns on the road and everything else? Basically, are you assuming that all that's
okay?

Bourne, Greg: I'm assuming the project will be developed just like it is production.

Hines: Also under number nine it is assumed that all the required licenses, certificates of occupancy, or
other legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity
or organization have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate
contained in this report is based. We don't have all of them. So again, you're making another extraordinary
assumption.

Bourne, Greg: You know, these are standard conditions. This is not an appraisal like I'm appraising one
piece of property and I'm vetting it. I'm using appraisal methods to answer questions. And so basically my
assumption is it's developed just like it is shown up there.

Hines: Right. And you're here with flow and harmony and | understand. Based on that comment, I'm going
to back off number 11, where there was no survey that was made for you for the appraisal because if
you're putting a value to something, not that you must have a survey to give value, but you can't just rely
on tax records either, right? But you're stating right here under number 11, page four, that no survey was
conducted especially for this appraisal, right? That’s your statement.

Bourne, Greg: That is basically whenever | appraise a property, most times it does not have a survey made
specifically. Okay, here Greg, here's a brand-new survey. Now I'm going to appraise a property. Typically,
I'm lucky to get a survey. It may be five years old. It may be 10 years old. You know, and sometimes | don't
even get that. Sometimes | do have to rely on county records.

Hines: They're not even required by a bank half the time. Depending on what type of loan you're doing. |
just wanted to point out for the record though that, you know, we're making these assumptions, but
there’s eight and nine. We go back to Councilman Pruitt's concerns. And I'm backing off 11, but | did want
to just state that you didn't have an actual survey to go by.

Bourne, Greg: Not one made specifically for me, but | did have that site map. Okay.

Hines: But that's kind of contradictory to what you said at number 11.

Bourne, Greg: It's basically standard conditions that | include with every appraisal.

Mantz: | think | just have one. It's a little bit of a question but kind of a point to along with Councilman
Pruitt's questioning of harmony. It looks like you indicate in there that the comprehensive plan and it’s in
general conformity with the comprehensive plan and does not materially endanger the public health or
safety. Are you doing that off an appraisal? You know, | can hear the engineer say that but extraordinary
assumptions.

7

=

19|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Bourne, Greg: That’s part of you know the plan I'm going with the plan they have here. I'm looking at value.
Basically, given this plan what I've done research value-wise | see no detriment to adjoining properties.
Hines: I'm sorry, can you repeat that last statement?

Bourne, Greg: Basically, from my analysis, | found that the project will not substantially injure the value of
adjoining property or be a public nuisance.

Hines: | thought | heard you put some the word value to something.

Bourne, Greg: If | did, | may have misspoken.

Hines: Okay, fair enough.

Mantz: | just brought that out there since this is an official record. Yes, the claim that of health and safety |
think kind of exceeds the scope here a little bit which goes back to, you know, | guess assumption number
18 on page five. The subject has never been utilized as a waste disposal site for toxic or other hazardous
material.

Bourne, Greg: I'm not an expert environmental guy. it's not mine. So I'd say you know that's okay.

Mantz: Thank you. | think so.

Varnell, Casey: As a general comment that goes to the remember | said earlier substantial material and
competent and you guys decide what is competent. Is he competent to testify as to the issues you're
currently speaking about? And that's in y'all's purview.

Pruitt: In your own words then did you not say that you are not qualified to say harmony environmentally
or anything like that?

Bourne, Greg: In regard to in harmony as far as value goes.

Pruitt: Just with value, not in harmony with the area. You're just talking about the value.

Bourne, Greg: If something was not in harmony with the area, it could impact value but from my research
right you know and using the language that is in harmony with value it will not have an adverse or
detrimental value impact on the surrounding or adjacent property.

Pruitt: Just so that you know why I'm asking it is because in the findings it we have to find that it will be in
harmony with the area and you use the word harmony. So | want to make sure that you're not the
spokesman for this group that is saying it's in harmony with the nature. You’re not an environmentalist, is
that correct?

Bourne, Greg: No, | am not.

Pruitt: So, as far as environmental impact and all that, you're not saying that this is in harmony with nature
in any way. You're just saying that this is in harmony with similar structures of value.

Bourne, Greg: Yes.

Pruitt: Okay. Thank you. Thank you very much.

Walker: Is everybody satisfied with this testimony?

Varnell, Casey: Yes, | ask if the applicant has any questions.

Hornik, Robert: With respect to the harmony issue, | know Mr. Pruitt's been asking you about harmony.
When you talked about harmony, did you consider the other uses in the area, the trees, the environment?
Bourne, Greg: Yes. | mean, | considered how it sits, where it sits and what impact it has. Obviously, it's one
thing if the project went there and clear cut the whole site which is not going to do. If you look at the plan
they preserve most of the live oaks and things like that so in that regard it is in harmony with its area and
that harmony is a is a value indicator.

Hornik, Robert: Is it harmonious with the existing RV park right next door?

Bourne, Greg: Yes, it is. It’s a lower density, but yes, but it's harmonious. Yes, it is.

Hornik, Robert: When you look at it, you talked about before like the drone’s view looking down, right?
When you look at it in terms of what is surrounding it, vegetation, types of buildings, other uses, not just
uses, but the context of the area around it, right? Is it still your opinion that it's harmonious with the area?
Yes, and in fact, if you look at some of the dwellings, if you go down Old Schoolhouse Lane, most of lots

20| Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

have been practically entirely cleared where there is no remaining vegetation to speak of. So in that sense,
you know, it's the project is better than some of the surrounding properties in that regard.

Hornik, Robert: And is it as harmonious as some of the other uses that could go in the VR3 district?
Bourne, Greg: Yes, it is. Thank you.

Hornik, Robert: | think last but not least necessarily with our presentation, we've got Chris Cashin, who's
one of the principles of the entity that owns the property. He's going to talk to you about the project and
some of the other issues we can talk about.

Cashin, Chris: Good evening. My name is Chris Cashin. I'm one of the owners of the Preserve Park in Kitty
Hawk. I've owned it for about 10 years. | owned it but | was not part of the request for the home park
earlier. I guess that preceded my ownership. But | wanted to just tell you a little bit about what we've tried
to do with the property and what we would like to do with this adjacent property. And when | bought it,
there were some issues locally with the with the Preserve Park. The previous owner had done some work to
improve it, and we've continued to do that. We really focused on using strong lease agreements, some
standardized processes, some legal background checks, etc. to improve the tenancy in the park and to
make sure that we're complying with everything that Kitty Hawk requires. | have checked in periodically
over the years with the police department and with the fire department to say that we're running a good
park. We haven’t created any issues locally with the police. We've been following everything that we've
been asked to do, and we maintain a very standardized schedule of maintenance and try to maintain a
standard of RV that's in the park and try to make sure that we're doing the best thing that we can for the
area. So why are we thinking about expanding it? We’ve always owned the property next door and it's a
separate parcel and the goal was we'd like to see if we could continue to expand upon the things that we've
learned over the 10 years of running the park that we currently have. | get it, not everybody loves RV parks,
but we really think that | think it's an awesome use for here in the Outer Banks if we do it right. | wanted to
make sure when we made this proposal that we did it right. | hope I've demonstrated that to you. We spent
the time hiring local experts to look at what the environmental impact is. How can we minimize that? How
can we put the correct septic in place? How can we make sure there's minimized environmental impact?
Create a park that looks great, that has some maintenance trees, has nice space between the spots and
creates a welcoming environment that we think we have now. | think this steps it up even better on the
second half of the park. I think that we've really been intentional with how we can design something that
would look good and work with some of the limitations you have in terms of how low-lying the area is and
what can we do and what would what else could we put there? As far as some other things I've heard that
come up, | mean, obviously RV parks were a text amendment that was made | believe a few years ago we
were in VR3, but RV parks weren’t allowed in VR3, but that was changed a few years ago. You know, the
Preserve right now is a is a grandfather use. So, we look to be compliant with all the standards that the RV
park ordinance requires. That's what we were very intentional, making sure John went through and did all
the septic requirements and the turnaround requirements and we just tried to do a little bit above and
beyond in terms of making it look like it would be a very attractive spot for people to come. And with that,
I'd love to welcome your questions about what our intent is. | know there's some questions about tenancy
and who's going to come. I'm more than happy to tell you how we plan on managing that.

Walker: Do you have a manager?

Cashin, Chris: We do. His name is Nick Martini. He's managed the park for both the previous owner and
myself.

Walker: Does he stay in a camper?

Cashin, Chris: He is.

Pruitt: Do you have a storm plan?

Cashin, Chris: We do. When there is a storm coming, we do put out information. We can't make people
leave. We request they leave.

21|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Pruitt: So if that camper if the if the RV is there and hurricane's coming and they’re in Mississippi and you
call and say, "Hey, you need to move your camper out of here, your RV out, and they say, "Man, | can't
make it.”

Cashin, Chris: | haven't had that experience.

Pruitt: But | look at the worst case. Everybody knows me. | look at disaster.

Cashin, Chris: Of the tenants that aren't there, the ones that | know of are ones that live within an hour of
the spot and they do come and move.

Pruitt: Say 10 of them aren’t from here. What would you do if we had a hurricane coming? What would be
your plan to get these vehicles out of this low-lying area before they end up in Ash Swamp? Is there nothing
you can do? They're private and you can't ask them to leave or have a tow truck remove them.

Cashin, Chris: We do ask them to leave.

Pruitt: Well, how about if they don’t?

Cashin, Chris: | suppose if that's something that would be a requirement. Is that a requirement within the
ordinance that we do?

Pruitt: And if they don't, they can be towed.

Cashin, Chris: That's certainly something that could be part of a lease. A lot of the questions | think you
guys ask could be managed through a lease agreement. That lease agreement could include that provision
that if you're required to remove or the park will have it removed for you in the case of storm evacuation.
Pruitt: Well, | have concerns and this room’s full of people with concerns about what's going to happen if it
floods. | think most of the people here are worried more about where the wastewater is going, where these
vehicles are, who's going to make sure that they're not left there. The reason that when we did the RV park,
one of the reasons that they didn't really want to do it is because we were going be above the flood level
where this isn't. So that way if they didn't come, their RVs, | mean, their campers were going to be where
they flooded. I don't see how, especially if you only allow these people short-term like if | go to a
campground and | pay by the night, right? Just like | do when | go camping. | love camping and | have
nothing against RV parks but most of the ones I've been to you go there, they don’t have a lot of them don't
have septic. You hold it and then as you're leaving you go to the dump spot and go. That way you don't stay
because you must keep going back and forth. This seems like you're going to hook up, you're going to stay
and you know a monthly rental can turn into yearly and what you just said is you really have no way of
making them leave if they don’t want to go.

Hines: Well, that jumps back into what | was saying earlier. So if it's 180 days, right, you can pull out for one
day and go back in and your 180 days start again, right? So, and then you say you can’t make somebody
leave. | may be off here, but if you're not a full-time resident and you're told mandatory evacuation, you
can make them leave. So, | have concerns about that. My concern is you pull out for one day and you're
right back for another 180 days. But to your point on the flooding and the hurricanes, if you know, if you're
in Mississippi, | mean, it's not a tornado. It doesn't just show up overnight. You've got time to get here and
get your stuff out of here.

Cashin, Chris: | can only speak to the experience I've had managing the park is that we do send out
evacuation messages. It is not current policy to make them leave; we haven't done that. If you're saying
that's the condition of now managing RV parks, | don’t know.

Hines: That is a concern.

Cashin, Chris: 1 don't know if | have the legal ability to do that as the lease is written.

Hines: You can put whatever you want in your own lease.

Cashin, Chris: That certainly could be something that we would consider.

Hines: Again for me it is more of a safety concern, not a condition. I'm not against RV parks. | have been
sitting on the county planning board since 2015. We've approved plenty of them. I'm not opposed to it. This
is different than any I've ever seen before.

Cashin, Chris: Can | ask you in what way?

22|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Hines: Everything we've discussed tonight. I’'m more concerned about the safety side of it. Environmental.
Because that water does lead to open water, it might have to go through a culvert underneath a street, but
it does get there.

Pruitt: That goes to Kitty Hawk Bay, no question.

Cashin, Chris: What body would satisfy you? Whose opinion would satisfy you?

Hines: Well, it's not just my opinion. It's this whole board, everybody.

Cashin: If the storm water and what is not approved by Dare County, I'm just asking what body would
satisfy.

Hines: We have catastrophic events when we get them. We have the septic exploding, look at Hatteras
right now that’s all approved. I'm not trying to make it difficult on you I'm just trying to throw out things.
Like Councilman Pruitt, I'm throwing things out there that we must think about as a council for the safety
and well-being of all the residents around. So that's all I have for now.

Walker: Anyhody else? Dylan, do you have anything?

Tillett: | would like to elaborate on that park manager position one more time. That's great. You have a
person that lives in the park right now that manages and that works out wonderfully. If that person left and
no other person living in the park wanted to be that manager, what would you do?

Cashin, Chris: He does not live in the park.

Tillett: I misunderstood.

Cashin, Chris: He comes to the park.

Tillett: So, if you lost that employee, would you find another local person?

Cashin, Chris: Yes, sir.

Tillett: My point is you don’t have any plans to have an office or a somewhere where he would have
headquarters at?

Walker: How are people going to get in and out of the park? We're talking about motor homes, what is
your vision? Do you see people coming in for just short periods of time and leaving, just on vacation.
Cashin, Chris: Based on my experience with how people currently consume the park is that they would like
to be here for weeks. Sometimes they do half and we pro-rate the month. | think that's how we would
approach it.

Walker: This has little to do with your subdivision, but | have concerns about The Woods Road traffic. I've
been caught in that Woods Road traffic on weekends, and you cannot get out of it until you get to the end. |
don't know how you were going to evacuate or | just it just | don't know how you're going to manage that
without somebody on site when you've got somebody checking in and checking out and everybody doesn't
drive them well. Are they back in or drive in sites?

Cashin, Chris: They're back in sites and that's why we created the wider berth so that they could do that.
Pruitt: These will be for the owners only an immediate family. They won't be able to leave them, and a
cousin come stay.

Cashin, Chris: We have all those kinds of regulations in our current lease agreements. You can't sublet it.
Pruitt: Not sublet, but | understand that. But | know that the parks here, { can’t even let my nephew come if
it's not me and my children.

Cashin, Chris: No, | do believe the lease agreement is super important, but yes. It's not meant for others.
Pruitt: Because if | leave it for a period of time, | can go back home and | can tell my cousin, why don't you
go stay for a couple weeks and then or my nephews and but | know locally here that | was thinking about
putting an RV in a park because | like parks. | checked around and | thought it'd be great if | had some
family, they could go over there and stay. | found out that's not the way it works here. It's for me and me
only. I just was wondering if this was very similar where, you know, nobody else can stay in there but the
immediate family.

23| Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Mantz: It's not a gated community either, you know, to prevent folks from coming and going as they want.
With that lease that you have now currently, how long are people allowed? What’s the maximum length of
time somebody can currently sign with you?

Cashin, Chris: At this point they can roll to month for as long as they have. There isn't a maximum. That
would be a change.

Mantz: The current park is also in the same flood zone.

Cashin, Chris: 100%.

Mantz: So everything can be pulled away and got a 180-day requirement.

Cashin, Chris: | mean, in the 10 years I've owned, we've not had a flood problem. | mean, we've had some.
Mantz: Well, I'm just saying right now, do you track since it is in a flood zone and there's a 180-day
requirement or a one-year requirement to have the camper registered?

Cashin, Chris: We have a running registration of who's in the lots.

Mantz: Okay. So, you keep up with that, and you maintain the 180 days and currently.

Cashin, Chris: Okay. We have and we have information on the vehicle. We have security deposits.

Tillett: Going back to Mayor Walker's concern about traffic on The Woods Road, have you been in
coordination with any sort of traffic engineer regarding additional ingress and egress next to the entrance is
so close to an existing intersection. | know on new curb cuts on for new projects; you would want a certain
separation between an intersection. | could see that creating a danger. I'm not a traffic engineer.

Delucia, John: 32 RV units are going to have one vehicle, maybe two vehicles on them. | say one vehicle
because usually the RV tows the electric vehicle they use to get around here. | know that on Saturday
afternoon or Saturday mornings people try to sneak up that road. | don't know what we can do with that.
Walker: | don't know either.

Delucia, John: If we could find the solution to that it would be wonderful. | mean, the solution to that is to
get up at 7:00 to go up to Walmart and not get caught in the 11 am traffic.

Mantz: That's just an inconvenience. | think what Councilman Tillett's saying is you've got a T intersection
right there and you've got an angle road right now. You've got folks that are staying there long term. |
mean, they're not coming and going, but you come out that you know, just driving out of there. | run
through there all the time. When you come out of that lot, you're looking right back down. You’re coming
at an angle, and you look back right down the swamp. You have got a rig behind you, you're pulling out in
front of a 35 zone, or you know somebody going sometimes for | guess some people go 50 down there but
not you. I'm not saying but it could be a tight spot right when you're coming out with a rig and so you got to
be careful. It could be a concern now you have a lot more activity, 30 more spots and 32 more spots and so
forth and so on. | get what Councilman Tillett's getting at there.

Delucia, John: | mean, a typical operation on from where the RV park is not going to be driven from
because they're not all coming and going at the same time.

Mantz: Not until that hurricane hits and now you've got 30 plus the original 30 vehicles trying to egress all
at one time. One way in, one way out. It's a safety issue, you know, no parking lot around a commercial
would allow you to go one way in, one-way out to Walmart or anything like that. You have got to have
ingress and egress for safety.

Delucia, John: So yeah, but the traffic concept of something like the and we did traffic studies when we did
BB&T where the new right Royal Farms is going to go. We all looked at and on a shopping center like that
your traffic count is higher.

Mantz: That's a whole different animal, that’s a commercial spot and all that, but you do have a lot of
people.

Delucia, John: If we develop this parcel in compliance with the permitted uses and put 24, 25 3-bedroom
apartments on here, the traffic would be much higher than 32.

Mantz: Possibly, but not big rigs behind them and that sort of thing. So again, concern being an emergency,
storm hitting or whatever, you're trying to egress all everybody at one time and it could be, you know,

24|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

problematic with everybody's trying to back out and as Mayor Walker said, you know, having somebody
direct and that sort of thing. You know, it goes back to the owner making sure there's a traffic cop out there
directing traffic because that could become a real big mess. People could get trapped back there. Not to
mention a fire hazard. Not that we're too worried about that.

Delucia, John: But | mean | think that's probably more than before.

Cashin, Chris: No, | agree. | think that's why a manager is important.

Pruitt: Since we're talking about the intersection. I'm kind of we're going to go back to the Baum property.
How wide is the easement?

Cashin, Chris: | know we do have a very tight easement agreement that dates to when we purchased the
original park.

Pruitt: It just seems like to me we'd like to know, | would like to know, if she was to pinch and just hold you
to your exact easement.

Cashin, Chris: I'd love to contact Mrs. Baum about it, but | have not been successful.

Hines: Now, did the appraiser not pull an easement? Did you not go back to the assumptions, right?
Assuming they're all there.

Walker: Anybody else have questions?

Mantz: One last question. Do you have a recreational facility right now at your current property? Do you
have a place that people are using already?

Cashin, Chris: We just have extra space. There's extra space where some of the dumpsters are.

Mantz: It's at the end of that one road when you come in back on the water that kind of green area.
Hornik, Robert: Madam Mayor, can | ask Mr. Cashin one question?

Walker: Certainly.

Hornik, Robert: Over the course of your 10 years of association with The Preserve as it is now, how many
accidents or incidents have you experienced at the intersection of the driveway with The Woods Road?
Cashin, Chris: | know none, but | can't guarantee that nothing has happened. I'm not familiar with any.
Mantz: That’s of your current long-term residents who are there.

Hornik, Robert: No further questions.

Walker: Now, | want to make sure that everybody has had an opportunity to ask questions and to come
forward.

Hornik, Robert: Will | have an opportunity to kind of sum up after the public or whoever else? After
everyone's done, I'll have a few comments.

Varnell, Casey: Absolutely.

Walker: This is their hearing. So, | want to hear from them, too.

Garrett, Lauren: Madam Mayor, we do have someone from the public signed up to speak during this
hearing.

Walker: State your name and address and speak directly into the microphone.

Windle, Andrea: I'm Andrea Windle, | live at 1022 West Kitty Hawk Road. Happy New Year. | appreciate the
time. | come to a lot of public meetings here at the council and spoke, but | am by no means an expert,
which | just probably shot myself in the foot not signing up for public comment, but | guess that didn't
matter either because that was such an eloquent letter that was read into the into the meeting. The only
expertise | have is that | live in the village and I live not adjacent but close to where this is going. You guys
have done great tonight with all these valid concerns that people that live in the village have on this
expansive project. Traffic is a huge concern. Charlotte, thank you for bringing that to the attention of being
locked in on a Saturday. Yes, that is a huge concern and although in the 10 years that you have owned that,
I don't believe there are a lot of large recreational vehicles in and out of that driveway that dumped right
into an intersection onto the continuation of the walking path. That is a huge concern. Also something else
that we have thought about with people staying here long term and | know there's two parking spots per
lot but 1 know being a frequenter of RV parks and camping, that's going to really increase the e-bike traffic

25|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

concern. There have been a lot of issues and accidents with that and so in a shared community and maybe
you know people who are not exactly sure where they're going, that can be another huge concern. But
once again, not being an expert, but knowing what the land use plan is for Kitty Hawk, in my humble
opinion and not expertise, | believe that it doesn't fit in. It's not conducive to the village. Maybe some
people might say that it's a case of not in my backyard, but that person probably has the luxury of not
worrying about this going in their backyard. With that being said, | also know that in the past there have
been applications for special use permits and it has been said from council that the Town of Kitty Hawk has
taken a lot of time and money to create a wonderful land use plan. So, it's hard to see things get changed
when there is a clear vision for the Town of Kitty Hawk and how the residents want the land to be used.
Maybe, you know, if an RV park is there, maybe it's not so dense, maybe it looks different, but the way it is
going to impact on the community of the village. Before 10 years ago, there was a huge storm. It was 14
years ago. My daughter was just born, and we left and it was scary, horrible storm, which we've been very
lucky that we haven’t had any more like that, but chances are we probably will. All those flooding issues
that council are bringing up are very valid concerns. | would just like to say as a resident of the village that
nobody has chosen to make their life here because they wanted this in their backyard. They want respite.
Walker: Thank you. Anybody else? Casey, he’d have to be sworn in issue he'd like more information.
Varnell, Casey: Oh, he wants to be heard about. He needs to be sworn in.

Garrett, Lauren: Do you swear that the evidence you shall give is the truth, whole truth and nothing but the
truth, so help you God?

Pentecost, Curtis: | do.

Pentecost, Curtis: My name is Curtis Pentecost. | live at 1047 Twiford Street. | heard Councilman Hines
briefly mention a fire and | haven't heard anybody mention anything about fire control, fire hydrants or
outdoor fires like grills and things like that. | woke up one night and the house behind Ronnie Tilllett's house
was on fire. That was a scary situation. | was really concerned that whole forest was going to go up and |
never had a problem with the trailer park. Never even noticed that they were over there. But with that
many packed in, | had been at Frisco campground on holidays and there’s fire, there's drinking, there's
yelling and screaming. Like | said, | had never heard anything. | didn’t even know the trailer park was over
there really. But | am concerned about fire and whether there are fire hydrants and how they intend to deal
with that issue. Thank you.

Delucia, John: Let me answer that question really quick. There's water system out on the site. There's an
existing fire hydrant right in the middle of the whole site.

Tillett: Mr. Delucia, is that a fire hydrant? Is there a certain distance it needs to be from every site? Is there
a requirement that you've met when designing this?

Delucia, John: it's right where it turns.

Tillett: | know where it's at. I'm just curious if there was a minimum distance from each site that that is
being held. Is there a 400-foot or 500-foot distance?

Delucia, John: We submitted it to the town and the town said what we have out there was okay. If we
needed to put another fire hydrant, we'd certainly be willing to do that.

Hines: I'm sorry, where's the fire hydrant at again on there?

Tillett: The existing ones on the property line.

Hines: It seems like there should be another one to me somewhere. But | mean, if the fire department's
okay with it, then who am I? They would know better what they need to fight a fire than | do.

Tillett: Chief, are you able to speak on distances from hydrants?

Swearing in Chief Talley.

Garrett, Lauren: Do you swear that the evidence you shall give in this action shall be the truth, whole truth
and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

Chief Talley: | do.

26|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Chief Talley: Good evening. So what was the question?

Tillett: Is there a certain distance from a hydrant that you’re looking for with our apparatus to make sure
that if a fire was to happen at one of these sites? It would be within a correct distance to be able to attack
the fire.

Chief Talley: So, we generally look for 400-ft. We have the capabilities of going 1,000 ft with our trucks.
That's a standard that's with all fire pumpers, most of the fire service and as well. We can go beyond that,
but we typically don’t want to go beyond 1,000-ft. In terms of what we look for in the plans, we're looking
around the 400 to 600 range.

Hines: So, do you feel that's adequate for you guys the way it is now?

Chief Talley: This was approved by the fire marshal. So, yes, he knows what I am looking for. So, we're in
that 400to 600-foot range.

Tillett: if one of these at any single site went was to go up in flames, you feel confident we'd have the
correct equipment to address that in our apparatus?

Chief Talley: It's not really about the equipment. It's about the staffing and the manpower. That's going to
be questionable any time of the day, day of the week. There are many variables there.

Hines: As an example, you got a fire hypothetically on Lindbergh and you guys trying to fight that and then
one breaks out over here. Is that what you're referencing as far as manpower to be able to adjust?

Chief Talley: There's something called an effective response force on any fire and generally we look at a
single-family residence and we have minimal. Right now in the region, we're below our minimums to begin
with. So, it's just in any fire. We're behind in that regard. We have a lot of equipment, not a lot of staffing. A
fot of our staffing now is based on mutual aid. | would say all of it is based on mutual aid. With what we
have in Kitty Hawk, we have no control over what others are sending us and when they're sending them to
us. So there's a lot of variables in that regard. As for Kitty Hawk, if we have the staffing, we have the
equipment to deal with this. It's just that we staff four people per shift. So if you’re asking if Kitty Hawk can
handle that, I'm going to say no, we cannot.

Hines: Would an extra hydrant make it easier?

Chief Talley: It’s still going back to the staffing question. We got people staffing those fire trucks and
responding. Now on a good day, we do get that staffing in a relatively quick time. We can handle that. But if
you're asking me at every moment of the day, can we handle that? There's a iot of variables there. | can't
really answer that.

Hines: That's fair.

Pruitt: Chief, do you know if that's a dead-end line or if it's a spaghetti line or a loop line, or do you know?
Chief Talley: It's most likely a dead end.

Pruitt: A spaghetti dead end.

Chief Talley: | don't know specifically.

Pruitt: So, adding more hydrants on a dead end like we've seen on lvy Lane, it's not on a grid system. If it's
not on the loop system, one hydrant sucks the flow. If we had 10 hydrants, it wouldn't make the difference
of water flow to this site because of if this is a dead end main or spaghetti line. It doesn't get on a loop on
The Woods Road. Most likely not. The question of more fire extinguishers we've seen this happen in Kitty
Hawk Landing and where you could have all the fire trucks you wanted but we didn't have an order couple
of the trucks sucked it so the rest of them couldn't even run. So to answer that | don't think hydrants would
help in this situation.

Mantz: So, Chief, | brought this up a couple times, but just while you're here, | know the fire marshal looked
at this, but any concerns with single ingress and egress point when you you've got multiple casualty
ambulances, fire trucks, any concerns or any kind of rapid evacuation. With this layout, the way it's, you
know, single road in and out.

Chief Talley: We would be concerned about those things if it was high occupancy. Okay, these are probably
not going to be, that's not going to be the case. | guess it could be, but it's not going to be high and that's

27| Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF |
KITTY HAWK

when we usually want so that we can get in and out of there, any emergency vehicles and so no we're not
able to get all our trucks in and out of there effectively with the hammerhead and get in and out. We did
look at that when these plans came out to make sure that they met that standard and it does.

Tillett: Out of curiosity, what is the procedure for turning around at a hammerhead intersection? Do crew
members jump out of the truck and guide the truck backwards?

Chief Talley: Yes. One leg, they get out, back up down the other leg. If I'm not mistaken, it was supposed to
be 60-ft on each of the legs. | think that's what it said.

Tillett: Did you or the applicant receive any sort of written report from the fire marshal when he did the
review on that hydrant?

Chief Talley: No.

Tillett: Rob, you don't know of any. You haven't received any on that note.

Testerman, Rob: No.

Pruitt: Rob, is there a flow rate for dwellings by, you know, like one hydrant at a certain flow rate can only
service a certain number of dwellings? Is there anything in the code like that?

Testerman, Rob: Not that I’'m aware of.

Tillett: That's all | have. Thank you, Chief.

Walker: Thank you. Great. Is there anybody else that needs to speak, would like to speak? Okay. Well, then
| would entertain a motion. Mr. Hornik wanted to just make a few closing remarks.

Hornik, Robert: | promise to be brief. I’'m sure you've heard attorney say that before and waiting, whatever.
But in any event, you know, we had quite a discussion this evening. | know that there are some concerns
that some of the council members had regarding the turnaround. You know, we can accept the condition
that there be a cul-de-sac instead of a turnaround. A design issue that John has already indicated can be
addressed. There is an issue about what is a turnaround. It's just not a cul-de-sac. The ordinance doesn't
require a cul-de-sac. Nevertheless we're willing to do a cul-de-sac if that's what the council prefers.

Mantz: I'm sorry you said the cul-de-sac is not required per the ordinance.

Hornik, Robert: It says a turnaround.

Tillett: With 80-foot diameter.

Walker: That's hardtodoonaT.

Hornik, Robert: But the next one, there's no definition of turnaround in the ordinance.

Mantz: The intent is 80-ft would be so you could turn around, not have to back up to a safe.

Hornik, Robert: You're saying it's an ambiguity.

Walker: It gives you a radius, there is no ambiguity.

Delucia, John: Let me try. The ordinance says any road designed to be permanently closed should have a
turnaround that's closed in with a minimum right-of-way diameter of 80-ft. We don't have a right-of-way
here. This is a driveway, but we do have a turnaround that is more than 80-ft. | mean, if you want us to do a
circular one there, we certainly can do that. | can accommodate that. But we're still going to leave that that
T up there. It's still going to be part of the plan because it still will provide a turnaround for the fire
department to use. Fire department can't turn around with 80-foot. | mean, they've had to do a lot of
backing. I've seen it at the end of my road, so you know, the turnaround that we have there is 80-foot. It
has probably 120-foot turnaround space in it because we have 60-foot to the west and over a hundred feet
to the east and we don't have a right-of-way here that would have an 80-foot. I'm not sure if you want to
see a circular it won't be as good as this and | still think it meets this ordinance in my opinion.

Hines: May | interject for a second?

Delucia, John: Sure.

Hines: Chief Talley, would you say that what he said is accurate on the 80-foot turnaround for you guys?
Chief Talley: | would accept a challenge.

Hines: That's fair.

!‘-L-'_ e

28|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Walker: Motor homes with a vehicle on the back of it don't back up either. Motor homes with a vehicle
attached to the back, a tow vehicle, don't back up either. Can’t back up.

Hornik, Robert: Well, you probably know that though.

Walker: | do know that.

Hornik, Robert: I'm sure. The only other points | want to make here is that | think that the issues that you
raise can be solved with there's a requirement. Many of them are requirements of the ordinance anyway.
They're just important, they are enforcement issues. As Casey had indicated before, the 180 days and being
road worthy, the having the log of the leases, the owners and their addresses and all that. Those are all
requirements of the ordinance. We must do that anyway. So we have no problem with doing that. If you
want some kind of annual or bi-annual or semi-annual certification compliance with the lease issues, Mr.
Cashin has already indicated his willingness to do that. Remember that this site could be developed with 24
or 25 single family residences. | mean as a matter of right in the district. What we're proposing here from a
traffic standpoint is probably less of an issue than having 25 or 24 single family detached units on the
property given the number of trips per day and the like. Please don't consider this just with respect to being
vacant land and having a proposal on vacant land. You must consider what else could be there and whether
this is better, worse or about the same as | would ask you to keep that in mind. There's a lot of discussion
about harmony. | mean, harmony isn't just zoning stuff. Harmony has to do with the character of the area
and with proposals in the context of the area in which it's proposed. You heard Mr. Bourne and Mr. Cashin
and Mr. Delucia all talk about what's around this property. You have the existing mobile RV park right next
door. You have some commercial uses down up to the north, | suppose. You have some residential uses
including one with a warehouse, some that are perhaps dilapidated mobile homes, others are our modest
single-family residences all in the area. There are trees. We're going to preserve as many trees as we can on
the site. As a matter of fact, one of the reasons why we're doing the 18 units is so that we don't have to do
a big septic field where we're going to have to take down a bunch of trees. So, we've tried to be
harmonious and accommodating to the existing environment. You know, this is a place where people will
come. You'll be attracting families and visitors. So, you're consistent with those issues of the land use
ordinance and | submit that we presented to you the sufficient evidence for all four findings, compliance
with the code, those things that you don't think we comply with, and attach conditions. It's easy.

Hines: | will say one thing about harmony. I love the word flow and harmony. It's kind of like as an attorney,
it's kind like reasonable, right? But | find it to be in harmony, you may not be what you find to be
reasonable, | may not find it to be reasonable.

Hornik, Robert: It may be in the eye of the beholder.

Hines: That'’s correct.

Hornik, Robert: | understand that. But it's also if there's some objective standard that someone will look at.
Hines: No, | understand. But you might like green, | might like yellow.

Mantz: If | could maybe, you know, along with that point to clarify a little better is we keep using the word
harmony, but it's harmony in relation to the entire sentence, which is harmony in the area which is located
to be in general conformity with a comprehensive plan. So, we've talked about ordinance, but we haven't
talked about the comprehensive plan. When | talk about the comprehensive plan, the land use plan that
was put together by the town as a guiding document. For instance, on page 39 of the land use plan, they
state, use a future land use map and character area description as a guide when making land use and
development permitting decisions. This is especially relevant to the rezonings and decisions of where to
extend public infrastructure and services development within the horizontal boundaries of the two-ft sea
level rise area that | was talking about earlier. | have specific concerns here. So when you talk about
harmony and compliance conformity with the land use plan, 1 don't see the congruence.

Hornik, Robert: Well, | mean | would disagree. | think that with respect to raising the pad so we're above
the two-foot and the streets we're above the two-foot flood line. The property is zoned VR3. | mean what

29 |Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



L

@\ TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

we're proposing is consistent with the zoning which this council not necessarily you guys, but this council
has said is an appropriate use in that district subject to condition a special use.

Mantz: So we're talking about special use so having said that further in in the you know the land use plan as
you know called out what is you know two the two areas are in the accommodate and adapt and
acknowledge and conserve. That acknowledge and conserve is specific, you know, when it talks about what
you're allowed to do. In that it says discourage new development that relies on septic tanks and areas that
will be inundated again with this two-foot sea rise area. That becomes problematic as well when you talk
about septic systems and keeping with the land use and with the conformity of it. There’s plenty of other
things. Some to include under goal three policy 3.1 which Mr. Testerman pointed out manage land use and
development to minimize primary and secondary impacts on resources and existing residents through
standards for development. Then 4.1 encourages the preservation of maritime forest, flood plains,
marshes, and wetlands through development regulations and land protection initiatives. In fact, | think
when you look at the definition of acknowledge and preserve, it recommends that you look at ways to
disassemble existing structures in those areas. So, we're talking about proposing building something in an
area that we’re recommending in our land use plan. Now, | love this notion of a RV park and it’s great. I'm
on the Recreation Committee, have been for the last few years, and | love the idea of recreation and
bringing it, but it's congruence with this land use plan, which is signed off by the Town of Kitty Hawk, after,
you know, as one of our witnesses indicated, a lot of money, time, and effort. It's just not congruent with
that as far as in my opinion as a framework of which to operate to make these decisions.

Hornik, Robert: | understand what you're saying. Again, | disagree. | mean, there'd be no property
development of vacant property if we had to comply with the disassemble argument.

Mantz: Well, how many places live in flood zones that, you know, that have to worry about this sort of
thing? If we allow this to happen and the next thing you know the entire, you know, Kitty Hawk, you know
30, 10, 20, 30 years. Not to mention, you know, 10 years down the road, all these 18 different septic
systems that could be, you know, starting to cause problems, that sort of thing, which is a big problem
along the entire, you know, beach community here.

Hornik, Robert: So, | submit that speculating about what might possibly happen isn’t evidence.

Mantz: What measures do we put in place to make sure that nobody walks on those fields, right? Those
septic fields. Well, the septic fields are in between most campers, not every camper, but a lot of campers.
How are you going to control people from, you know, walking on them and stuff? You look at the EPA
standards, they say they recommend vegetation on top of them to make sure that you don't walk and
smash down. We're already talking a thin layer to begin with 30-inches deep before you hit that water
level. You know, | don't care. You can build up several feet, but then again, land use plan calls for making
sure you don't use fill in these marshland areas because then it could run off and create different storm
water issues. | know we got infiltration basin and stuff, but right.

Hornik, Robert: The septic systems, | mean, as John Delucia has said a few times, | mean, every yard in a
single family residence has a separate system and it’s if it's your backyard or your front yard, people are
walking on that, playing whiffle ball on it or parking on them, parking on them, accidentally.

Mantz: But that does make it right. Our job is to make sure that we keep compliant with a framework and a
way of thinking and that's all I'm doing. Just like Mayor Pro Tem Pruitt pointed out, you know, I've got an
ordinance, so | got to go by this. You know, that's legit and maybe there's ways we can work around to fix
those, but there's a bigger elephant in the room for me and that's this land use plan. If we don't use that,
then the next property thereafter and the next property thereafter, we got to be consistent as a council
and as a town.

Hornik, Robert: | mean, that's really my closing statement. | would ask the council to find in favor of the
special permit use application. If there are conditions that you feel we need to apply to feel comfortable
approving, let's talk about that and see we've already agreed to two or three different conditions. | would
like to try to make that happen. | suppose otherwise council members are generally satisfied. | mean we

’?

30jPage Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



t
[ R

B\ TOWN OF
b* KITTY HAWK
talked about continuing that's not our preference. We talked about continuing the hearing, if necessary, to
address those couple of concerns. We would be willing to talk about that too. But again our first preference
would be approval or even a conditional approval tonight. We think you can do that. Thank you.
Walker: May | have a motion to come out of public hearing?
Tillett: So moved, Ms. Mayor.
Walker: Second?
Pruitt: Second.
Walker: Thank you. All in favor?
All Council: Aye.
Walker: All opposed? None. We're back in regular session now. Thank you very much. Do you have
guestions?
Varnell, Casey: To keep it orderly so that way no matter which way this thing goes for the record, for the
minute taking, for Rob later and preparing whatever order must be prepared. | think let's just do it this way.
Since section 42-100 (B) (8) to approve this application you guys must make findings that proposed special
use does four certain things. Let's take each one by one. Let's start with A, the discussion you guys have
had. I'm not saying to vote, just discuss. Does the proposed special use materially or do you make a finding
that it does not materially endanger the public health or safety? You've got to find that it does not
endanger public health or safety.
Pruitt: Leeching septic tanks going into Kitty Hawk Bay. My boss died two years ago from a bacterial
infection, and they pretty much directly relate that to E coli from the bacteria coming out of the septic.
When there are assumptions that you know when the man said you know how do we do it? I'm a
waterman. | work on the water. Years ago crabs didn't die in the bottom of our pots. When the water got
stagnant the bacteria didn't go, it didn't happen. Now, we have dead crabs. Every time the tide quits
moving, when the Kool-Aid separates, | say the bad water sinks to the bottom and everything down there
dies. The bacteria are real. We’ve had several deaths here on the Outer Banks. We're closing our popular
swimming areas, one right after the other in the peak of our tourist season. We're telling people, don't get
in the water. As a commercial fisherman, and I’'m sure my fellow commercial fishermen are joined with me,
we worry that someday somebody will say, "Hey, y'all can't eat the seafood coming out of the Albemarle
Sound, Pamlico Sound, Neuse River. It's a scary situation. We make a living, you know, like you make a living
on campgrounds. We make a living off this water. We are very concerned about what's going on in it. So, |
think this is very dense, me personally, but we're talking about endangering. So, I think the proofs in the
pudding of the bacteria and the state shutting down Jockey's Ridge swimming hole, Colington Harbor Park,
Southern Shores Boat Park, all of those are closed every summer when they test because of the bacteria.
More of the island. Look, we're floating barrier sand. We can’t hold much more. | know it seems dense to
me, and | worry about the safety of the people around me, the kids playing when it rains and a kid running
out there. | mean that there are a lot of septic tanks leeching in the Ash Swamp.
Varnell, Casey: You know the septic since you brought that up. Is that does that have anything to do with
the low-lying area that we’re talking about such as the acknowledge and conserve in the land use plan?
Pruitt: We all operate on septic tanks and mine is just as guilty as yours would be. I'm not saying mine’s any
different. | don't think they’re a very good method anymore. When | first built my house, my yard didn't
flood. My septic stayed dry all the time and 30 years, but in the last 10 it's just the water table is rising. So |
have concerns about the health. | have the concerns about the health of the fish and the turtles and
everything that's in that Ash Swamp. That swamp's full of white egrets. So you know sometimes 20, 30 at a
time that come there every single day that'll be drinking that water. | have concerns about the health of not
only people but of the nature that's in Ash Swamp.
Tillett: 1'd like to add to that the public safety adding additional flow to a curb cut so close to an existing
intersection without hearing from an expert and in that traffic field. I'm unsure that it's adding it could be
additional public safety or lack of public safety.

31|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



\ TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Varnell, Casey: No traffic study presentation. No expert testifies to those items.

Tillett: Correct.

Mantz: | as well with the traffic have an issue with safety simply from the standpoint | know that fire chief
talked to not have it some concern but | just | worry that if something happens a flashfire or any you know
anything like that that you know or mass casualty you know fire blows up propane tank blows up and next
thing you know if | was there I’'m going to jump in my RV and I'm going to get out as fast as | can because |
don't want the guy next door catching me on fire. Now I'm just blocking the road for any, you know, cars
coming in and out. Same lane all the way back to a dead end just doesn't sit well with me. So that's a
concern | have as well.

Pruitt: And I'll also add, we don't know what the easement is. It could be 10 ft. She could put a fence on
both sides, and we couldn't get a fire truck through there, period. We don't really know what the easement
is. So right now we don’t really know how wide the easement is to get onto this property. So we don't know
what the passing was going to be. | do know the easement at one time was not sufficient for another
person to build an RV park until they got a right-of-way. Now, why is it different here I'm not quite sure.
Hines: Okay. I'm going to go back to Councilman Pruitt with, you know, with the ordinances and making
sure we're complying.

Varnell, Casey: Well, that's up next. That's B. So, if we're ready to move on, we'll go to B, which is there a
finding and Councilman Hines, lead off with that. Does this application meet all required conditions and
specifications of our ordinance?

Hines: For me, it does not.

Varnell, Casey: Okay. You want to elaborate?

Hines: Pretty much going back to the first round of questions. There's just some like the easement. | mean,
there are unknowns.

Tillett: Road length.

Varnell, Casey: | bring up some issues that | that | took down while you all were discussing. We're just
talking very particularly to what our ordinance says. There was the issue with the 80oot right of way
turnaround in diameter. If | recall correctly, | believe Rob testified that he did not believe that the proposal
itself evidenced what the intent of that ordinance provision was. The applicant of course had an engineer
that said yes, put things out there for council's consideration. The other issue | believe Councilman Tillett
brought up was that the issue of the road into the park not exceeding 1,000-ft being measured from the
park entrance. | do believe the testimony was that the park entrance was going to be starting at the
essentially the public right-of-way at the Baum property and measuring from there it did exceed 1,000-ft
maybe 1,090-ft | believe it is what Rob's report said and there was a “shall” in front of that as well. You all
have heard my spiel on my thoughts on the “shall”. Those are two that | recall, but if there are any.

Mantz: There was one more. We talked about moving the recreation facility. | mean, | can't see a kids’
playground going on top of a septic field behind the bathhouse but there were, you know, adjustments that
could be made for that.

Varnell, Casey: Alright, C, you must make a finding that it will not substantially injure the value of adjoining
property. So, it's kind of two-part here.

Mantz: Could | go back to B? I'm sorry. Absolutely, but there is, you know, we talked about required
conditions specifications. This could be my opinion, but specifications for me are that CAMA land use plan is
a guiding document.

Varnell, Casey: That will come up in item D as well. Absolutely correct. So, so as the C again will it or will it
not substantially injure the value of adjoining property? | would submit that | think Mr. Bourne's report on
value was sufficient. That's my legal opinion on that just to cut that short and suffice. Now, there is another
provision here that says or a public nuisance. So, that's another item with C. | don't know if you guys have
any comments on whether this would constitute a public nuisance potentially.

32|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Pruitt: The only thing I'd like to state is when the appraiser did the adjoining property and you looked at the
commercial district, the only reason that that was allowed is because there was a trade you go commercial
and they gave us 540 acres to the Coastal Reserve. So it really isn't in harmony. But to get the 540 acres
that were never going to be ever disturbed again, it was kind of a trade back. That's the reason that when
you see the garden center, the provision was if they'd let them build the communication tower, the storage
building and the garden center, you give the town 540 acres. But it's really, it's in harmony, but they paid
with a lot of land.

Mantz: So, there was a good return for public nuisance. My only concern would be noise levels around your
nice quiet pond if | live there. Now, it's going to have 30 more sites of people recreating and that sort of
thing, which is good. But | do appreciate the current owner right now ensuring that his current property has
been cleaned up and taken care of and | very much appreciate that. So | think that you would be able to
keep that hopefully under control.

Varnell, Casey: So okay, anyone eise on that? If not, we'll go to D, which I've heard a lot of commentary
about during this proceeding. We'll break it down into two parts. Part A, will the application be in harmony
with the area in which it is located? That's item one. Thoughts on the harmonious nature. It is true when
you're looking at this, one of the considerations you must make is not the only, but the uses that surround
that the proposed development. That is certainly a consideration. You're not saying it's the only thing, but it
is certainly a consideration when you.

Hines: | don't find it to be non-harmonious.

Varnell, Casey: Personally, you find it to be in harmony. You believe it is harmony.

Hines: | don't think you'll even really see it.

Pruitt: { don't think it's in harmony with that amount of density. | believe the site plan could be modified
with less and be way more. You know, they keep talking about trees, leaving trees, and | don't know what
do | count? Eight, | think, John. | mean, the rest of it's over in the swamp that you couldn't cut down
anyway. | don't think | see but about one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight. No, you're not counting in
the swamp, are you? Are you in the repair buffer? I'm talking about right out where the trailers are. | only
see eight.

Delucia, John: When you see all those little flower things, those are all the trees.

Pruitt: Are you talking in Ash Swamp?

Delucia, John: No, not in swamp.

Mantz: On the east side.

Pruitt: In the buffer, but out in the trailer park itself on the flat.

Delucia, John: Let me just count a few of them. I got 1, 2, 3,4,5,6,7,8,9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 just on
this lower half alone.

Pruitt: But | said but you're counting all down in the orange and all that.

Delucia, John: The white area is the swamp up at the top.

Pruitt: The white clear area where all the spaces are.

Mantz: You're talking on the east side.

Delucia, John: There still are trees being left in those areas.

Mantz: But the question is since we’re talking about trees and picking numbers of trees, how many are
being cut down as opposed to being left?

Delucia, John: That’s not in your ordinance. That's not in the ordinance.

Mantz: No, but it's in the land use plan.

Delucia, John: We went out there. We had them all located. We had them all located by survey. Then we
tried to work around the ones that we could. | mean, I'm a big tree preservation person. There’s a lot of
trees on a lot of that I've done. But you have got to look at the uses.

Mantz: I've also got to look at the CAMA land use plan which you know says we can't be chopping down
trees, you know, minimizing impacts.

33|Page Town Council Minutes Januairy 5, 2026



\ TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Varnell, Casey: That’s the very next item in D. So go ahead and discuss whether it's a general conformity
with the comprehensive plan.

Tillett: I'd like to make a statement that agree with the entire statement Councilman Mantz said about the
policies in the CAMA land use plan.

Varnell, Casey: That was while Mr. Hornik was performing his closing argument, closing comments?
Tillett: That's correct. Yes, that's correct.

Varnell, Casey: Councilman Mantz, do you have any other comments on the land use plan or the
acknowledge and conserve.

Mantz: Nothing that I've haven't already said unless it unless it needs to be repeated.

Varnell, Casey: No, | mean if you guys all recall what Councilman Mantz said while on the record while Mr.
Hornick was issuing comments while on the record if he adopts those comments right now, it will be
sufficient. | think he does. Any more discussion then? You can, Mayor, please take it away and vote on each
item if you would. However, just go down A through D.

Clopton, Melody: Can you read each item again?

Varnell, Casey: You want me to do it that way? Let's do it that way. Now you guys are going to are going to
vote.

Pruitt: But we're going to vote on the whole thing? Whether we're going to approve this site plan or not. |
mean, we're not going to sit here and prove each little condition.

Varnell, Casey: Well, we could do it another way. You must make findings on all of these. So, that's the only
reason | was going to say, so if any of these are a no, then you're not going to likely approve. You’re not
going to approve it because you must make findings that do not materially endanger the public health or
safety. Do you vote on that issue?

Tillett: | don't believe we have enough evidence to prove that it doesn’t.

Varnell, Casey: The answer | think was no to that based on your discussion. You don't have enough
evidence to determine whether it does or not. You got does not meet all required conditions and
specifications based on your comments.

Walker: It does not.

Varnell, Casey: Do you think you guys agree that it will not substantially injure the value of adjoining
property or be a public nuisance? That was agreed upon. Then, however, Councilman Pruitt said that he did
not believe it would be in harmony with the area in which it was located. Then Councilman Mantz made
comments that were adopted by Councilman Tillett concerning the general conformity or lack of general
conformity with the comprehensive plan. So having made those findings now it could go to a traditional
motion.

Walker: What do you want to do with this matter? Do | have a motion?

Tillett: Madam Mayor, | move to deny the proposed special use permit for an RV park at 4352 B The Woods
Road due to the findings that the attorney just listed and that's why | did it that way.

Varnell, Casey: So, that is the motion.

Hines: Can | ask a question between the voting?

Varnell, Casey: Actually, let's get a second first and then you can discuss.

Mantz: Second.

Hines: So if it gets denied tonight, can they still come back and modify and bring everything back?

Varnell, Casey: Correct.

Hines: If it gets denied tonight, they can still modify and bring it back.

Varnell, Casey: Right, if there are modifications to the actual submittal.

Hines: If we deny it tonight, they can still come back and fix the things we had concerns about?

Walker: They've heard our concerns. Then they would go back to the Planning Board, right?

Varnell, Casey: In that case, it would.

Mantz: So, we’re voting up or down on those conditions?

3|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



TOWN OF
KITTY HAWK

Varnell, Casey: Correct, that’s why | had you make findings on each condition. Now you’re voting as
Councilman Pruitt said whether you’re denying it or not with the reasoning being that it does not A, B, or D
of the conditions of section 42 (B) (8) as currently presented. That's what's on the table.
Walker: Okay, we have a motion and a second and we need to vote. All in favor?
All Council: Aye.
Walker: All opposed? None. We have denied the motion. The applicant has the information that they need
if they would like to come back. Thank you. Let’s go to something easy, we need to nominate a Recreation
Committee member.

9. New Business —

a. Appointment of New Member to Recreation Committee

Tillett: Yes, ma'am. Madam Mayor, I'd like to nominate Linda Algood for a position on the Recreation
Committee.
Hines: I'll make a second to that.
Walker: Okay, great. All in favor?
All Council: Aye.
Walker: Melody, do you have anything to say or do we need an intermission?

11. Reports/General Comments from Town Manager
Clopton, Melody: Do | have anything to say? Not much today, but | just wanted to wish everyone a happy
New Year. 2025 was a year where a lot of things came together for our town. | feel like | think everyone
feels like we've made some solid progress on some key priorities and while keeping the day-to-day services
of our community going and running smoothly. So, I'm so proud of our staff for their day-to-day efforts,
their commitment to training and the handling of new products and priorities. As we move into 2026, the
town is in good place. We have better facilities, stronger systems, a skilled workforce, and a clearer path
forward. Speaking of that, on your consent agenda, you approved the budget calendar. That will be in the
forefront of at least most of our department head's minds and my mind and even you guys. That will be
filtering down to you. We approved the calendar. Our budget retreat where we all get together, which is a
public meeting, will be held on March the 18th at 9 a.m. at the police department this year. Also just kind of
following up, you had at your place tonight policies that were given to you a while back that were we you
asked to kind of put aside until February. I'm hoping that we can work through these things and any
questions that you have, maybe and not have a three-hour meeting about them. | hope you have ample
time to review it and ask questions. Other than that, Christmas tree pickup is ongoing and place your
undecorated tinsel-free Christmas tree along the curb side and they'll be picked up in a timely manner. You
can also drop your tree off at the Kitty Hawk bathhouse and that way it will be used for dune restoration.
That's all | have.
Walker: Anything from the town attorney?

12. Reports/General Comments from Town Attorney
Varnell, Casey: Happy New Year guys and what a start to the new year. But nothing else for me.
Walker: Town Council, Dylan, do you have anything?

13. Reports/General Comments from Town Council
Tillett: | just want to send a special thanks to Rob for his hard work in the past two quasi-judicial hearings.
Month to month, back-to-back. Nice work. Everything was very laid out, and we appreciate your hard work
on all of it. Anytime | have questions for Rob, | call him or email him, and | get a response just like that and
it's very appreciated, Rob. Thank you.
Pruitt: Thank you, Rob, as always. We had a chance to go to the Wright Brothers celebration, and we had
the honor of seeing the students who had built an airplane. | thought how neat it was that the educators
and the park service of our area came together to rebuild an airplane, first one since Orville and Wilbur
built it on that site. | just want to give a shout out to our educators, Mr. Basnight, for a fine job | think he's

35|Page Town Council Minutes fanuary 5, 2026



._.
I

B\ TOWN OF
,,,* KITTY HAWK

doing with our schools, and all the teachers that are educating our kids here. That was very impressive.
That's it.
Walker: Well said. Okay. Thank you. All right. Did you have anything tonight, David?
Hines: Congratulations to the new Recreation Committee appointee. And that's it.
Walker: Okay, Pete.
Mantz: Yes, ma'am. | want to thank Melody for the year wrap-up. What a fantastic time. Everything from
the parade with the fire department and police department running that thing, that was just amazing. |
know we didn't have a chance to thank you guys for that. So, amazing job. Thank you for all that write up. |
think that you should go somewhere and social media, all the stuff that you the town has accomplished in
last year. It's eye watering. So, thank you for putting that together. | know that takes time, especially when
you're getting ready to go on your holiday. | want to thank everybody tonight, everybody that participated.
These things are hard and | know it's hard to step up and have the courage to say what's on your mind and
all those that spend all the hours preparing and all we can do is hope that we make the right decision
tonight and thank everybody for all their input.
Walker: | would like to thank all the department heads for the work that went into our Christmas caravan.
It was amazing. It was wonderful. And to see all the children light up and make it possible for the parents to
get pictures with Santa. It was just amazing from start to finish. Safe. Everything went quite well. |
appreciate being a part of that and there's one more thing we must recognize or we'd like to recognize, and
that is Melody Clopton's 15 years of service to this town. Thank you everyone. Do | have a motion to
adjourn?

14. Adjourn
Pruitt: So moved.
Tillett: Second.
Walker: All in favor?
All Council: Aye
Woalker: Thank you, we are adjourned.

Adjourn at 9:07 pm.

The Minutes of the January 6, 2026, Kitty Hawk Town Council Meeting are approved at the February 2,
2026, Kitty Hawk Town Council Meeting.

Charlotte Deloatch Walker, Mayor Lauren Fox Garrett, Town Clerk

36|Page Town Council Minutes January 5, 2026



AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6B

DATE: February 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: Finance Director

SUBJECT: Budget Amendment # 12

To recognize the Outer Banks Community Foundation's $20,000 funding for the
FY 2025-2026 project at the monument to the First Flight, "lcarus":

e cleaning the pylons and the copper dome.

BACKGROUND:

DISCUSSION:

RECOMMENDED MOTION:
Consent Agenda Item




TOWN OF KITTY HAWK
Budget Amendment Number #12 (FY 2025-2026)
General Fund Operations

INCREASE
Account Number Description Amount
REVENUES (Increase)
10-4270-3839-0110 Icarus Monument $20,000
TOTAL REVENUES $20,000
EXPENDITURES (Increase)
10-4270-5295-0000 Maintenance & Repair B& Grounds $20,000
Project Code (B00110)
TOTAL EXPENSES $20,000

TOTAL

Explanation:

FY 2025-2026 Funding from the Outher Banks Community Foundation for the monument of

a century of flight "lcarus” maintenance: Cleaning the Pylons and the copper dome.

Recommended by :

Liliana Noble- Finance Director

Approved by:

Charlotte Walker - Mayor

Date February 2, 2026




AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6C

DATE: February 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: Finance Director

SUBJECT: Budget Amendment # 13

To recognize donations to the Police Department:
e Mr. Mike Lacona $100 - Donation will be used for community outreach
programs
e Joe Lamb Jr. $100 - Donation will be used for Employee engagement

BACKGROUND:

DISCUSSION:

'RECOMMENDED MOTION:
Consent Agenda Item




TOWN OF KITTY HAWK
Budget Amendment Number #13 (FY 2025-2026)
General Fund Operations

INCREASE
Account Number Deascription Amount
REVENUES (Increase)
10-4310-3434-0000 General Donations Police $200
TOTAL REVENUES $200
EXPENDITURES (Increase)
10-4310-5497-0000 Community Qutreach $100
10-4310-5220-0000 Employee Engamement $100
TOTAL EXPENSES $200
TOTAL
Explanation:

Donation _receveid from Mr. Mike Lacona ofr $100 . It will be use for Community Outreach Programs

Donation receveid from Joe Lamb Jr.$100 will be use for Employee Engagement

Recommended by :

Liliana Noble- Finance Director

Approved by:

Charlotte Walker - Mayor

Date February 2, 2026




AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6D

DATE: February 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: Finance Director

SUBJECT: Budget Amendment # 14

Replacement of the HVAC unit at the Fire Department

BACKGROUND:

The town has planned for this expense by saving in the capital reserve fund. The
purpose of this budget amendment is to transfer funds from the Capital Reserve to the
General Fund Operations.

DISCUSSION:

RECOMMENDED MOTION:
Consent Agenda Item




TOWN OF KITTY HAWK
Budget Amendment Number #14 (FY 2025-2026)
General Fund Operations and Capital Reserve Fund

Account Number Description Amount
FUND 10- GENERAL FUND
REVENUES (increase )
10-0000-3900-0000 interfund transfer in from Capital Reserve $12,600
For Repair HVAC at Fire Department
TOTAL REVENUES FUND 10 $12,600
EXPENDITURES (increase)
10-4270-5295-0000 Maintenance and Repairs Buildings & Grounds $12,600
TOTAL EXPENDITURES FUND 10 $12,600
FUND 21- CAPITAL RESERVE FUND
REVENUES (Increase)
21-0000-3991-0000 Capital Reserve Fund Appropiated 12,600
TOTAL REVENUES FUND 21 12,600
EXPENDITURES (Increzse)
21-4100-5921-0000 Transfer out to General Fund 12,600
TOTAL EXPENDITURES FUND 21 12,600

Explanation: The purpose of this amendment is to transfer from capital reserve funds saved previously to the General

fund for the repair of one HVAC unit at the Fire Department .

Recommended by :

Litiana Noble- Finance Director

Approved by:

Charlotte Walker - Mayor

Date February 2, 2026




AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6E

DATE: March 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: Finance Director

SUBJECT: Budget Amendment # 15

INSURANCE CLAIM REIMBURSEMENT

BACKGROUND

The budget amendment accounts for insurance reimbursement for repairs to the
Ocean Rescue Vehicle, a 2023 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 work truck.

DISCUSSION:

RECOMMENDED MOTION:
Consent Agenda Item




TOWN OF KITTY HAWK
Budget Amendment Number #15 (FY 2025-2026)
General Fund Operations

INCREASE
Account Number Description Amount
REVENUES (Increase)
10-0000-3839-4850 Insurance Claims /Reimbursement $2,625
TOTAL REVENUES $2,625
EXPENDITURES (Increase)
10-4370-5353-0000 Maintenance and Repairs Vehicle $2,625
TOTAL EXPENSES $2,625

TOTAL

Explanation:

To recognize the insurance claim reimbursement for the repair of the Ocean Rescue Vehicle:

2023 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 work truck crew cab 157" 4WD VIN 3GCUDAED6PG327452

Recommended by :

Liliana Noble- Finance Director

Approved by:

Charlotte Walker - Mayor

Date




AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6F

DATE: March 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: Finance Director

SUBJECT: Budget Amendment # 16

Grant Award — Dare County Tourism Board $49,434

BACKGROUND:

To recognize the award grant from the Tourism board for the US Life Saving Station
Memorial Project at the bathhouse

DISCUSSION:

RECOMMENDED MOTION:
Consent Agenda Item




TOWN OF KITTY HAWK
Budget Amendment Number #16 (FY 2025-2026)
General Fund Operations

INCREASE
Account Number Description Amount
REVENUES (increase)
10-0000-3496-0000 Grant - Dare County Tourism Board $49,434
TOTAL REVENUES $49,434
EXPENDITURES (Increase)
10-4270-5295-0000 Maintenance & Repairs Buildings $49,434
TOTAL EXPENSES $49,434
TOTAL
Explanation:

To recognize the Grant award from the Dare County Tourism Board in the amount of $49,434 for the

US Life Saving Station Memorial Project at the bathhouse.

Recommended by :

Liliana Noble- Finance Director

Approved by:

Charlotte Walker - Mayor

Date




AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6G

DATE: March 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR

SUBJECT: Authorization to proceed with Task 2B as presented by Coastal Protection
and Engineering (CPE).

BACKGROUND: This item was originally presented to Council at the Council Meeting
on August 4, 2025.

DISCUSSION:

This was presented to Council by Adam Priest of CPE on August 4, 2025, under the
heading of “Borrow Area Permitting Support Services”. Council did not object to the
options presented but wanted to be notified and to authorize when it was time to proceed.

The Task we would like you to authorize is Task 2B — Borrow Area A Surface
Sediment Analysis. This task is to be billed on a time-and-materials basis, not to exceed
$5,127.50.

COST:

The cost of this is not to exceed $5,127.50

RECOMMENDED MOTION:

Consent Agenda Item




a Outlook

4-Towns Beach Nourishment Project

From Ken Willson <kwillson@coastalprotectioneng.com>

Date Mon 1/26/2026 2:48 PM

To Drew Havens <dhavens@ducknc.gov>; Liliana Noble <liliana.noble@kittyhawknc.gov>; William Midgett
<willie.midgett@kittyhawkne.gov>; Melody Clopton <melody.clopton@kittyhawknc.gov>; Cliff Ogburn
<cogburn@southernshores-nc.gov>; Bonnie Swain <bswain@southernshores-nc.gov>; Guns, Meredith
<MEREDITH@kdhnc.com>; Diaz, Debbie <debbie@kdhnc.com>

Cc  Adam Priest <apriest@coastalprotectioneng.com>; Joel Kubick <JKubick@coastalprotectioneng.com>

| hope you all are staying safe and warm during this chilly NC week. | wanted to reach out to each of the
4 Towns on a few updates, requests, and suggestions. As you may have seen in the project update
letters we sent out last week, we are on track to submit permit applications by early March. Finalizing
the design reports will probably follow along a bit after that time in April or May. We are tracking well in
terms of where we were in 2021 for the 2022/2023 projects. We have also had some productive
meetings with dredge industry representatives over the past couple weeks, and they seem to think our
proposed timeline of bidding the projects in August for Spring 2027 construction is a good one, and that
everyone will have open capacity.

As you may have also read in our project update letters, there will be a need for additional sediment
analysis of several of the samples collected in the previously permitted Borrow Area A in November.
While it sounds like we will nat be required to collect new vibracores, we have committed to providing
grain size analysis data for a select number of samples. In the proposals we submitted to each Town
back in the Spring of 2025, there were two optional tasks, Task 2B ~ Borrow Area A Surface Sediment
Analysis, and Task 2C — Borrow Area A Supplemental Vibracores. While we will not need to exercise
optional Task 2C, we are seeking approval to proceed with optional Task 2B8. This task was anticipated
to be billed on a time and materials basis not to exceed $5,127.50. We do not anticipate the need to bill
the entirety of this amount as we are not required to analyze all of the samples collected in November.

Please respond to me with your Town'’s approval to proceed with Task 2B as described in the original
scope of work.

Finally, | wanted to mention that we have our next Dare County Quarterly Beach Nourishment Meeting
on March 5. Prior to that meeting, | would like to schedule some time to brief representatives of each
Town on where we are in terms of design volumes and recommendations for the 5-year maintenance
project vs. 7-year maintenance. | wanted to see what you all thought about either setting up a webinar
to brief everyone at once, or if preferred, schedule individual sessions to brief your Town. We will be at
Duck’s annual Council Retreat the week before the March 5 Quarterly Meeting and will provide an
updated brief to their Council at that time. Please let me know your thoughts and we can plan

accordingly.
Kind regards,

Ken Willson

Senior Project/Program Manager
Main: 910-399-1905

Mobile: 810-443-4471

kwillson@coastalprotectioneng.com




ot

Post Office Box 549
101 Veterans Memorial Drive
Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

Phone (252) 261-3552
Fax (252) 261-7900
www.kittyhawknc.gov

MEMORANDUM

T0: Mayor Walker & Members of the Town Council
FROM: Planning & Inspections Department
DATE: February 2, 2026

RE: Special Use Permit Approval Order — 5416 N Croatan Hwy, Royal Farms

PURPOSE

The purpose of this memorandum is to transmit the attached Special Use Permit (SUP)
Approval Order for Town Council consideration following completion of the required quasi-
judicial hearing.

BACKGROUND

Section 42-250(c)(2) of the Town of Kitty Hawk Code permits gas stations as a Special Use
within the BC-1 zoning district. The applicant submitted a request for a Special Use Permit to
allow a gas station on the property located at 5416 N Croatan Hwy.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D, on December 1, 2025, Town Council conducted a
duly advertised quasi-judicial public hearing on the application. During the hearing, sworn
testimony was received from the applicant, staff, and other witnesses, and documentary
evidence—including a site plan—was entered into the record.

The Order memorializes Town Council’s quasi-judicial decision following the hearing conducted
in accordance with N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D. It reflects the findings of fact, conclusions of law,
conditions of approval, and final action taken by Council based on competent, material, and
substantial evidence entered into the record.

TOWN COUNCIL RECOMMENDED ACTION

Approval of the Consent Agenda will constitute adoption of the attached Special Use Permit
Approval Order.



NORTH CAROLINA TOWN OF KITTY HAWK
DARE COUNTY

SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPROVAL ORDER
Applicant: Khop LLC

Request: Special Use Permit — Gas station

Property Address: 5416 N Croatan Hwy

Parcel Identification Number (PIN): 986720804529
Zoning District: BC-1, General Beach Commercial
Date of Decision: December 1, 2025

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

1. This matter came before the Town Council of the Town of Kitty Hawk (“Council”)
upon an application for a Special Use Permit (“SUP”) pursuant to Chapter 42 of the
Kitty Hawk Code of Ordinances and Article 4 of Chapter 160D of the North Carolina
General Statutes.

2. Notice of the quasi-judicial public hearing was provided in accordance with
applicable law.

3. The Council conducted a quasi-judicial public hearing on December 1, 2025, during
which sworn testimony was received, exhibits were admitted into the record, and all
interested parties were afforded an opportunity to be heard.

4. The applicant bears the burden of proving that the request satisfies each of the
required standards set forth in Section 42-100(b)(8) of the Kitty Hawk Town Code.

5. This Order is based solely on competent, material, and substantial evidence in the
whole record and is intended to comply with standards articulated by the North
Carolina Court of Appeals for quasi-judicial land use decisions.

Il. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS

6. Section 42-100(b)(8) of the Town Code requires the Council to make affirmative
findings that the proposed use:

a. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety;

b. Meets all required conditions and specifications;

c. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property or be a public
nuisance; and



d. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is located and be in general conformity with
the Town’s comprehensive plan.

7.

Failure to establish any one of the required findings mandates denial.

lll. FINDINGS OF FACT

Based upon competent, material, and substantial evidence in the record, the Town Council
makes the following Findings of Fact:

8.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

The subject property is located within the BC-1, where gas stations are permitted as
a Special Use pursuant to Section 42-250(c)(2) of the Town of Kitty Hawk Code.

. The proposed gas station, as depicted on the site plan submitted into evidence,

meets all applicable dimensional, setback, parking, access, and buffering
standards of the Town of Kitty Hawk Code, subject to the conditions of approval
listed herein.

The proposed use will be served by adequate public facilities, including vehicular
access, utilities, emergency services, and stormwater management.

The location, design, and operation of the proposed gas station will not materially
endanger the public health or safety.

The proposed use is designed and located to be in harmony with surrounding
development and land uses in the area.

The proposed use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting
properties.

With the imposition of reasonable and appropriate conditions, the proposed use will
comply with all applicable provisions of the Town of Kitty Hawk Code and applicable
local, state, and federal regulations.

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, the Town Council concludes as a matter of law

that:

1.

The Board has jurisdiction to hear and decide this Special Use Permit request
pursuant to N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D and the Town of Kitty Hawk Code.

Gas stations are eligible for approval as a Special Use within the subject zoning
district pursuant to Section 42-250(c)(2).



3. The Applicant has satisfied the burden of proof required under Sec. 42-100(b)(8) of
Town Code to demonstrate compliance with the applicable Special Use Permit
standards.

4. The proposed gas station meets all required standards for approval of a Special Use
Permit, subject to the conditions imposed by this Order.

V. CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

This Special Use Permit is approved subject to the following conditions, which are found to
be reasonable, related to the proposed use, and necessary to ensure compliance with the
Town Code and to protect the public health, safety, and welfare:

= Priortoissuance of a building permit, submit copy of stormwater permit or other
DEQ documentation.

= Priorto issuance of a building permit, submit copies of wastewater permits or other
related approvals.

VI. ORDER

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED that the application for a Special Use Permit and
Commercial Site Plan to allow a gas station pursuant to Section 42-250(c)(2) of the Town of
Kitty Hawk Code is hereby APPROVED, subject to the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law,
and Conditions of Approval set forth in this Order.

This decision shall be effective upon adoption.
VII. NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS

Any person with standing may appeal this decision by filing a petition for writ of certiorari
with the Dare County Superior Court within the time allowed by N.C.G.S. §160D-1402.

Adopted this ___day of , 2025.

Mayor
ATTEST:

Clerk / Staff Liaison



Post Office Box 549
101 Veterans Memorial Drive
Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

Phone (252) 261-3552
Fax (252) 261-7900
www.kittyhawknc.gov

MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Walker & Members of the Town Council

FROM: Planning & Inspections Department

DATE: March 2, 2026

RE: Special Use Permit Denial Order — 4352 B The Woods Rd, RV Park

PURPOSE

The purpose of this memorandum is to transmit the attached Special Use Permit (SUP) Denial
Order for Town Council consideration following completion of the required quasi-judicial
hearing.

BACKGROUND

Section 42-250(c)(2) of the Town of Kitty Hawk Code permits gas stations as a Special Use
within the BC-1 zoning district. The applicant submitted a request for a Special Use Permit to
allow an RV Park at 4352 B The Woods Rd.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D, on January 5, 2026, Town Council conducted a duly
advertised quasi-judicial public hearing on the application. During the hearing, sworn testimony
was received from the applicant, staff, and other witnesses, and documentary evidence—
including a site plan—was entered into the record.

The Order memorializes Town Council’s quasi-judicial decision following the hearing conducted
in accordance with N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D. It reflects the findings of fact, conclusions of law,
conditions of approval, and final action taken by Council based on competent, material, and
substantial evidence entered into the record.

TOWN COUNCIL RECOMMENDED ACTION

Approval of the Consent Agenda will constitute adoption of the attached Special Use Permit
Denial Order.



NORTH CAROLINA TOWN OF KITTY HAWK

DARE COUNTY

SPECIAL USE PERMIT ORDER OF DENIAL

Applicant: Preserve Capital Partners, LLC, by John Delucia, PE, as authorized agent
Request: Special Use Permit — RV Park (“The Preserve”)

Property Address: 4352 B The Woods Road, Kitty Hawk, North Carolina 27949
Pertinent Tax Identification Numbers: 018599002; 986620814526

Zoning District: VR-3 (High Density Village Residential)

Date of Decision: January 5, 2026

L. BACKGROUND

1.

This matter came before the Town Council of the Town of Kitty Hawk (“Council”’) upon
an application for a Special Use Permit (“SUP”) pursuant to Chapter 42 of the Kitty Hawk
Code of Ordinances and Article 4 of Chapter 160D of the North Carolina General Statutes.

Notice of the quasi-judicial public hearing was provided in accordance with applicable law.

The Council conducted a quasi-judicial public hearing on January 6, 2026, during which
sworn testimony was received, exhibits were admitted into the record, and all interested
parties were afforded an opportunity to be heard.

The applicant bears the burden of proving that the request satisfies each of the required
standards set forth in Section 42-100(b)(8) of the Kitty Hawk Town Code.

This Order is based solely on competent, material, and substantial evidence in the whole
record and is intended to comply with standards articulated by the North Carolina Court of
Appeals for quasi-judicial land use decisions.

II. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS

1.

Section 42-100(b)(8) of the Town Code requires the Council to make affirmative findings
that the proposed use:

a. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety;

b. Meets all required conditions and specifications;

c. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property or
be a public nuisance; and

d. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is located and be in general
conformity with the Town’s comprehensive plan.



2. Failure to establish any one of the required findings mandates denial.

IIl. PRE-HEARING MATTERS

a) Atthe request of the author of an electronic message concerning application for the Special
Use permit subject of this Order, said message was read aloud by the Town Clerk during the
“Public Comment” period provided for on the meeting agenda. This agenda item occurred prior
to the opening of the public hearing on the subject SUP and the author of the electronic message
was not in attendance at the meeting.

The applicant’s legal counsel objected to the Council’s consideration of the contents of the
aforementioned electronic message based on, inter alia, the lack of opportunity to question the
author due to the author’s non-attendance at the meeting.

After receiving input from the Town Attorney, the Council sustained the applicant’s motion and
the electronic message referenced herein was stricken from the record and was not to be considered
by Council in making its decision on the application for SUP.

b) At a meeting held on October 30, 2025, the Town’s Planning Board recommended denial
of the subject SUP application by a 3-2 vote.

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT

Based upon competent, material, and substantial evidence in the record, the Town Council makes
the following Findings of Fact:

1. The subject property is located within the VR-3 zoning district, where RV Parks are
permitted as a Special Use pursuant to Section 42-250(c)(2) of the Town of Kitty Hawk
Code.

2. Findings concerning Section 42-100(b)(8)(a):

a. The proposed RV Park will utilize the installation and use of multiple septic tanks
to serve end users of the RV Park.

b. Due to the low-lying area of land comprising the subject parcel, as well as its
proximity to water bodies such as “Ash Swamp”, the potential for harm to public
health and safety created by inundation of water upon the subject parcel exists.

c. Further, the applicant presented no competent, material, or substantial evidence to
establish the lack of safety impacts created by the additional traffic flow the RV
Park will cause to be added to the access curb cut shown on the site plan (as
submitted into evidence) which exists in close proximity to an existing intersection.



3. Findings conceming Section 42-100(b)(8)(b):

a. Section 42-622 of the Kitty Hawk Code of Ordinances provides the
specifications and conditions imposed upon an RV Park within the VR-3
zoning district.

b. The proposed RV Park, as shown on the site plan submitted into
evidence, does not propose to utilize a right-of-way turnaround that is 80-
feet in diameter at the dead end of the RV Park’s access road as required
by Section 42-622.

¢. The proposed RV Park, as shown on the site plan submitted into
evidence, proposes to utilize a dead end access road that is 1,090 feet in
length, exceeding the 1,000-foot maximum length imposed on such a road
in Section 42-622.

d. The proposed RV Park does not propose utilizing a sewage dumping
station to handle the wastewater needs of the RV Park and instead
proposes to use multiple septic tanks to facilitate the wastewater needs of
the end users of the RV Park. Section 42-622 requires the use of a
singular sewage dumping station.

e. The applicant presented no competent, material, and substantial
evidence to confirm the easement agreement between the applicant and
an adjacent property owner, which is necessary to ensure permanent
access to the RV Park.

4. Findings conceming Section 42-100(b)(8)(c):

a. The applicant presented sufficient evidence to show that the RV Park
would not injure property values of adjacent properties, nor create a public
nuisance as to those adjacent properties.

5. Findings concerning Section 42-100(b)(8)(d):

a. The proposed RV Park does not minimize primary or secondary
impacts on natural resources and existing residents as a result of the scope
of total development area and use of multiple septic tanks on the low-lying
area comprising the subject parcel as stated within Policy 3.1 of the Future
Land Use Plan (FLUP).

b. The proposed RV Park is partially located in the “Accommodate and Adapt
Character Area” incorporated into the FLUP, which area promotes new
development primarily consisting of single-family residences or reuse of



existing structures in order to accomplish the objectives of Policy 3.1 of the
FLUP.

c¢. The scope of total development area of the proposed RV Park does not
encourage the preservation of maritime forest area, flood plains, marshes,
and wetlands as stated within Policy 4.1 of the FLUP.

d. The proposed RV Park is partially located in the “Acknowledge and
Preserve Character Area” incorporated into the FLUP, which area
promotes disassembling existing structures within said area in order to
accomplish the objectives contained within Policy 4.1 of the FLUP.

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, the Town Council concludes as a matter of law that:

1. The Board has jurisdiction to hear and decide this Special Use Permit application pursuant
to N.C.G.S. Chapter 160D and the Town of Kitty Hawk Code.

2. RV Parks must be approved by the Town Council as a Special Use within the subject zoning
district pursuant to Section 42-622 of the Kitty Hawk Code of Ordinances in order for such
a use of land to commence.

3. The Applicant has not satisfied the burden of proof required under Sec. 42-100(b)(8) of the
Kitty Hawk Code of Ordinances to demonstrate compliance with the applicable Special
Use Permit standards, and in particular has failed to satisfy the burden of proof associated
with subsections (a), (b), and (d) of Sec. 42-100(b)(8).

4. Based on the Findings of Fact referenced directly above, the Kitty Hawk Town Council
unanimously voted to deny the Special Use Permit application subject of this Order.

VL. ORDER

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED that the application for a Special Use Permit to
allow an RV Park pursuant to Section 42-622 of the Town of Kitty Hawk Code is hereby DENIED,
based on the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth in this Order.

This decision shall be effective upon the filing of this Order with the Town Clerk.



VII. NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS

Any person with standing may appeal this decision by filing a petition for writ of certiorari with
the Dare County Superior Court within the time allowed by N.C.G.S. §160D-1402.

Adopted this _ day of , 2026.

Honorable Charlotte Walker

Mayor

ATTESTED TO BY:

Clerk / Staff Liaison



AGENDA ITEM # Consent 6J

DATE: March 2, 2026

SUBMITTED BY: Town Clerk

SUBJECT: GEACC Current TV FY 2026-2027 Budget for Approval

Attached is the GEACC Current TV Proposed Budget for FY 2026-2027. This budget
has been approved, in its entirety, by the Government and Education Access
Channels Committee (GEACC) on Tuesday, January 27, 2026.

For full resolution, the governing board of each entity must approve the budget. We
appreciate you adding the review of the GEACC Budget to the next available Board
meeting; we realize that this may be too late for your February meeting so as soon as
possible it is appreciated.

BACKGROUND:

DISCUSSION:

RECOMMENDED MOTION:
Consent Agenda Item




Government Education Access Channels Committee
Current TV
FY 2026-2027 Proposed Budget

The following items are presented for review and approval.
Board Action Requested:
Approve the proposed 2026-2027 GEAC Budget.

Budget Summary

The Government Education Access Channels (GEAC) Committee has reviewed and approved the
proposed 2026-2027 budget for the operation of the Government and Education Channels (Current TV).
The proposed budget, which would take effect July 1, 2026 must be approved by every participating
member entity of the Channels, which includes the towns of Duck, Southern Shores, Kitty Hawk, Kill
Devil Hills, Nags Head, Manteo, Dare County, Dare County Schools, College of The Albemarle, and
ECU Coastal Studies Institute.

The budget as proposed requires no additional funding from the participating entities above the current
annual $1,000 membership fee. The budget is funded primarily from the North Carolina Video
Distribution proceeds, which are disbursed quarterly by the state to certified channels throughout the
state. These funds must be used for the operations of the two channels and no other purpose.
Additionally, the legislation that originally established the Video Distribution funding required that the
proceeds not supplant current funding. Accordingly, the annual $1,000 membership fee that was in
place when the program began must remain, or the Channels would lose all Video Distribution funding

from the state.

The GEAC committee recommends the attached budget, which includes, in part, the following: funding
for two full-time, and one part-time staff positions and the Local Programming Development Initiative to
assist members in the development of programming for the Government and Education Channels. The
funding also includes contractor funding to continue to produce two regular news magazine shows that

highlight each of the participating members on the Education Channel and the Government Channel.



GEACC FY 2026-2027 Proposed Budget

GEACC CURRENT TV PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2026/2027

INCOME
(1] Supplemental PEG Channel 251,573
[2] Member Fees 10,000
[3] Interest Income 8,000
[4] Appropriated Fund Balance 143,614
Total Revenue 413,187
EXPENDITURES
[5-A] Salaries (2 Positions) -153,813
[5-B] Pt. Time Salary -19,298
[6] Merit Pay -3,000
FICA -13,243
Retirement -23,288
401K -4,615
[7] Health Insurance -25,824
Life Insurance -210
‘Retiree Health -262
:Insurance & Bonds -6,765
[8] Contractual Services -40,000
[9] Professional Services -2,000
[10] Equipment Repair & Purchase -5,000
[11] Supplies -3,500
Training -3,000
[12] Website ADA Compliance Development -19,500
Travel -2,000
Professional Memberships -500
[13] CHANNEL OPERATIONS
Music Library -350
OBX Media -4,200
Adobe -995
Tightrope Hardware 0
Cablecast Software Assurance Service -1,600
Cable Subscription -324
Cablecast Reflect (Sjreq_ming/\{OD_ Service) -2,600
Cablecast Closed 6ap_t~ioning Service (500 hours) 0
Fiber internet upgrade -4,800
Envato Elements Digital Assets Library -400
Marketing -5,000
Miscellaneous -500
Dropbox -200
Contingency (Reserve for unexpected expenses -10,000
Emergency Contingency (Storm related overtime) -2,500

Car Maintenance -217000



Total

LPDI

LPDI 1- Coastal Studies Institute
LPDI 2- College of The Albemarle
LPDI 3 - Dare County Government
LPDI 4 - Dare County Schools
LPDI 5 - Duck

LPDI 6 - Kill Devil Hilis

LPDI 7 - Kitty Hawk

LPDI 8 - Manteo

LPDI 9 - Nags Head

LPDI 10 - Southern Shores

Total LPDI

Total Expenditures

Over / Under

GEACC FY 2026-2027 Proposed Budget Continued

Car Fuel
Uniforms
Al credits




Government and Education Access Channel Draft Budget Notes for
Fiscal Year 2026

Goals and Objectives

To continue to fund the operation of the channel at a level that provides
a professional, reliable, and quality service to the citizens of Dare
County. To increase awareness of Current TV.

[1] NC PEG Supplemental Video Disbursement - Revenue collected by
the state in the form of a use tax on cable and satellite providers. Funds
are pooled and disbursed quarterly to qualifying PEG operations.

[2] Member Fees - Each entity pays an annual $1,000 membership fee to
participate. This amount remains unchanged from the prior fiscal year.

[3] Interest Income - Interest earned on the unappropriated fund
balance. Dare County Finance advised including $8,000 for FY 2026-
2027.

[4] Appropriated Fund Balance - Amount pulled from the
unappropriated fund balance to meet obligations.

[5-A&B] Salaries - Funds two full-time Dare County employees and one
part-time employee positions and includes a 3.0% COLA increase.

[6] Merit Pay - Awarded based on employee performance. Dare County
Finance advised $3,000.

[7] Health Insurance - Includes individual health insurance coverage for
eligible employees.

[8] Contractual Services - Assistance in producing Destination Dare and
Dare Education Awareness programs.

[9] Professional Services - Covers professional voiceover, acting, and
production support.

[10] Equipment - Purchase and repair of large video production
equipment.



[11] Supplies - Items such as batteries, tape, lighting gels, and small
accessories.

[12] Website Development - Development cost to ensure the Current
TV website complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act, meeting

all federal accessibility standards to include WCAG 2.1 Level AA
compliance.

[13] Channel Operations — Day-to-day channel expenses including
website hosting, streaming, software, monitoring services, and digital
asset libraries.

» $350 for music library to provide music beds for videos.
e $4,200 - OBX Media: for website hosting and maintenance.

» $995 - Adobe: Creative Cloud subscription for professional non-linear
editing tools.

e $1,600 Cablecast Software Assurance- software warranty for our
Cablecast software which we use to schedule and send our stream to
the cable channels.

e $2,600 - Reflect: Streaming Video/VOD for online video streaming
service.

* $4,800 Fiber internet-For buffer-free playback of livestreams and
Videos on Demand on CurrentTV website.

e $400 - Envato Elements: Digital asset and stock footage library

¢ $5,000 Marketing budget for social media ads, promotional handouts,
and advertising.

e $200 Dropbox subscription to transfer and house videos produced by
contractors.

e $500 for Al credits for video Al tools such as audio enhancements,
animation, and time saving tools.



101 Veterans Memorial Drive

Post Office Box 549 Phone (252) 261-3552
Fax (252) 261-7900

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949 www.kittyhawknc.gov

MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Walker and Members of the Town Council
FROM: Planning & Inspections Department
DATE: February 2, 2026

RE: Sec. 42-528 Clarifying ADU Size Calculations and Side Yard Setback Applicability

Attachment
Proposed modifications to Sec. 42-528

Purpose
This zoning text amendment addresses two related implementation issues in the Town’s
zoning regulations related to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs):

e How ADU size is calculated when unheated or non-conditioned space is involved; and
e How side yard setback requirements apply to ADUs relative to dwelling size.

Both issues arise from long-standing staff interpretations that are not explicitly defined in the
ordinance, resulting in inconsistent outcomes and unintended development impacts.

Issue 1: ADU Size Calculation
Current Ordinance
e ADUs limited to 800 sq. ft. or 50% of the living area of the principal dwelling, whichever
is less.
¢ Ordinance references “living area” of the primary dwelling but does not define whether
unheated or non-conditioned space is included in the maximum ADU size.

Historical Staff Interpretation
e Only conditioned (heated/cooled) living space counts toward the ADU size limit.
e Unheated enclosures (storage, garages, parking areas) are excluded.

Issues Identified
¢ ADUs may include:
o 800 sq. ft. of conditioned living space; and
o Large enclosed unheated areas below or adjacent.
e Resultsin:
o Structures that appear larger than intended.
o Reduced visual subordination to the primary dwelling.

g



Text Amendment: Clarifying ADU Size Calculations and Side Yard Setback Applicability
February 2, 2026
Page 2

o Potential future conversion of unheated space to living area without permits.

Issue 2: Side Yard Setbacks and ADUs
Current Ordinance

» Side yard setbacks increase as dwelling size increases.

o Determined using total conditioned living area.

» Non-living areas (garages, storage, decks, attics) excluded.

Implementation Question

e Should ADU square footage be included when calculating total conditioned area?

e If the ADU pushes total square footage into a higher tier, should increased setbacks
apply? How to address situations when the ADU pushes it to a higher tier, but the
primary dwelling cannot meet that higher standard?

Concern
e Ordinance lacks clear direction.
o Creates ambiguity for applicants and staff and leaves the matter up for interpretation.

Planning Board Review and Recommendations
Following review, the Planning Board recommended:
1. ADU Size Calculation
¢ Unheated or non-conditioned space does not count toward the ADU size limit.
e Require a recorded non-conversion agreement to prevent future conversion of
unheated space to habitable use without approval.
2. Side Yard Setbacks for ADUs
e Apply a standard 15-foot side yard setback to ADUs.
¢ Setback is not tied to principal dwelling size or combined square footage.
3. ADU Size Limitation
¢ Eliminate the 50% of primary dwelling size limitation.
e Retain 800 sqg. ft. maximum as the sole ADU size cap.

Ordinance Intent and Outcomes
The recommended changes are intended to:
e Maintain ADUs as clearly subordinate structures.
e Reduce opportunities for circumvention of zoning standards.
e Improve clarity and consistency for applicants and staff.
e Support neighborhood compatibility while allowing reasonable flexibility.

CAMA Land Use Plan
The following goals and policies relevant to this application are stated in the CAMA Land Use
Plan:



Text Amendment: Clarifying ADU Size Calculations and Side Yard Setback Applicability
February 2, 2026
Page 3

Policy 3.1: Manage land use and development to minimize primary and secondary impacts on
resources and existing residents through standards for developments.

Policy 3.4: Encourage residential that fits Kitty Hawk’s character.
- Monitor trends and reduce impacts of ADUs and Short Term Rentals in Village
Residential zoning districts.
- Consider modifications to design requirements that could include additional
setbacks or buffering in VR districts, especially if the unit is accessed via a
separate driveway

Town Council Recommended Motion

“I move to set a public hearing at the Town Council meeting on March 2, 2026 to consider the
proposed text amendments to Sec 42-528.”



Text Amendment: Clarifying ADU Size Calculations and Side Yard Setback Applicability
February 2, 2026
Page 4

ATTACHMENT: PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS
42-529.- Accessory dwelling units.

(a) Accessory dwelling units may be attached (located within the principal residence) or in a
detached structure on the lot, provided requirements for lot coverage and setbacks for the
district are met.

(b) Conditioned living space of -Aaccessory dwelling units shall not be larger than 50%-efthe
living-area-of the primaryresidenceor 800 sq ft-whicheverisdess. Unheated storage or
parking space shall not be included in the calculation of the maximum ADU square footage.
Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, a non-conversion agreement must be filed with
the recorded deed for the property.

(c) One additional off-street parking space shall be provided for the accessory dwelling unit.

(d) No more than one accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted on a single residential lot.

(e) Detached accessory dwelling units shall not exceed 28 feet in height, measured from
finished grade, or the height of the principal dwelling on the property, whichever is lower.

(f) The owner must obtain a permit from the county environmental health department that
indicates the septic system is sufficient for the increased occupancy. Total occupants residing
on the property shall not exceed the number specified by the septic improvement permit.

(8) Accessory dwelling units may be used for home occupation uses, in compliance with section
42-522, but in no instance shall more than one home occupation be conducted or permitted on
a single lot. Additionally, the accessory dwelling unit is not permitted to be used entirely for
commercial purposes.

(h) Side yard setbacks for detached ADUs shall be 15 feet.

In addition to the requirements of subsections (a)—(g), the following shall apply to ADU's
located within the VR-1 zoning district:

(ki) Accessory dwelling units located in the VR-1 zoning district shall have a long term tenant or
owner residing in a dwelling on the subject property, as defined in section 42-1.



1P

Post Office Box 549
101 Veterans Memorial Drive
Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

Phone (252) 261-3552
Fax (252) 261-7900
www.kittyhawknc.gov

MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Walker & Members of the Town Council
FROM: Planning & Inspections Department

DATE: February 2, 2026

RE: Pool deck setbacks

Proposal:

Sec. 42-504(i)Swimming pools-asseciated-aprons,-and-deckingno-greater-than-30-inchesin
height and associated pool equipment must meet required front yard building setbacks, but
can encroach as close as five feet to side and rear property lines. Any pool structures greater
than 30 inches in height (such as an aboveground pool, decking, pool house, e~pes}
egquiprent) must comply with the required setback standards for the district in which they are
located.

Purpose of the Amendment
o Clarify how swimming pools, pool decking, and related improvements are regulated
within required yards (setbacks).
« Align pool regulations with existing zoning definitions.
e Eliminate internal inconsistencies in the ordinance.

Relevant Zoning Definitions (Section 42-1)
The following definitions are provided for reference and are unchanged.

o Setback means the distance between a property line or right-of-way and the building. It
is synonymous with the yard. (Also see yards, and minimum yard requirements in
section 42-504(g)).

e Yard means a required open space other than a court unoccupied and unobstructed by
any structure or portion of a structure from 30 inches above the general ground level of
the graded lot upward, except that handrails may extend more than 30 inches above the
undisturbed ground level, provided the area between the support post or piers remains
open and unobstructed by pickets, siding or material unnecessary for the structural
strength of the handrails. Any pedestrian walkway and handrail must meet applicable
CAMA standards and requirements and structural requirements of the state building
code.

Based on these definitions, required yards (setbacks) only apply to structures or portions of
structures that are 30 inches or greater in height, excluding handrails. By definition, ground-
level improvements (e.g., patios or decks under 30 inches in height) are not considered
encroachments into required yards and may extend to the property line.



Text Amendment: Pool deck setbacks
February 2, 2026

Page 2

Current Regulation (Section 42-504(i))

Pool decking and aprons less than 30 inches in height must maintain a minimum five (5)
foot setback from side and rear property lines.

Pool decking greater than 30 inches in height must comply with standard zoning district
setbacks (typically 10 feet side and 25 feet rear).

Proposed Change
The amendment would:

Retain full compliance with front yard setback requirements for all pools.
Retain a minimum five (5) foot setback from side and rear property lines for swimming
pools themselves.
Treat pool decking and aprons under 30 inches in height the same as other ground-level
decks or patios, regardless of whether a pool is present.

o This aligns pool-related improvements with the Town’s adopted yard and

setback definitions.
o Removes an internal inconsistency in the ordinance.

Planning Board Recommendation

Following discussion, the Planning Board recommended approval of the proposed
amendment regarding swimming pool decking and aprons as presented.

In addition, the Planning Board recommended eliminating the requirement that pool
equipment comply with traditional zoning district setbacks, and instead allowing pool
equipment to be located as close as five (5) feet to the side and rear property lines,
consistent with the setback applied to swimming pools.

Staff Assessment

Improves ordinance clarity and internal consistency.

Reduces confusion for property owners, applicants, and staff.

Maintains reasonable separation between pools, pool equipment, and adjacent
properties.

Better reflects the intent of existing zoning definitions already adopted by the Town.

Relevant Goals and Policies of the CAMA Land Use Plan:

The goals and policies of the Land Use Plan are silent on this matter.

Town Council Recommended Motion

“l move to set a public hearing at the Town Council meeting on March 2, 2026 to consider the
proposed text amendments to Sec 42-504(i).”



PoorL DECK

GRound LEVEL DECK /Pano;Ne Peor
"= PermarteD, No SETBALK -

I - |
‘! /el e l —_
1% ;
1 e |
"

s 4 (
a/ LJ /{I
l rd

|
|

CURRENT ReGuLATONS:
JURRENT T3

Goon LEVEL DECK w/ P
Frenp, oo ¢ DS e




Agenda Item 10 A
February 2, 2026
To: Mayor and Town Council
From: Town Clerk, Lauren Garrett
Subj: Appointment to Recreation Committee

Recreation Committee

The Recreation Committee has one open member position due to a vacancy. The motion below
may be used.

| make a motion to appoint as a member of the Recreation
Committee with a term of office to expire June 30, 2026.




Board and Committee Volunteer List

Received Name | _PE'ming
1/18/2022 |Amy Davalos 1 3
3817 Elijah Baum Rd.

2

Board of Adjustment Recreation

1

252-489-0566

adavalos76@yahoo.com

Il/Z/ZOZ'Catherine Heath 1

512 W. Kitty Hawk Rd.

252-301-6403 (h)

919-649-9154 (c)
|cmheath@mindspring.com

2/7/2022 |Margaret Caldwell

4000 Tarkle Ridge Dr.
252-202-1231 (h)
252-255-2090 (w)

beachgirlyobx@yahoo.com

9/13/2023 |Ben Alexander - . 1
2806 Seahorse
252-207-3572

benalexander7533 @gmail.com

9/12/2022 |David Morton - 1

13880 Elijah Baum Rd.
buddaman920{@gmail.com

_3/14/2023 Sam Barker | 1

4604 Seascape Dr.

P.O. Box 2888 [

1449-6796 (w)

sam@seasidebuildersinc.com

T
1
4/24/2024 |Ron Tumolo [ 1

13916 lvy Lane ——
|Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

703-309-0395 (Cell)

rviumS22 @gmail.com

12/27/2024 Fran Dunn
19800 Capri Terrace

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

252-996-8070

fdunn262 @gmail.com

_(5/4/2_(125'David Foster ' 1

4326 Shady Lane

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

703-399-1613

|tdfoster63 @gmail.com

6/25/2025 Jamie Hines Jr. 2

1148 West Kitty Hawk Road

|Kitty Hawk, NC 27949
252-996-0659
__|ishinesjr@gmail.com

1/15/2026 |Ernest Winslow Jr. (Win) 2

4185 Tarkie Ridge Drive

[Kitty Hawk, NC 27949 ] 1
757-544-1100

| winwinslow2 @gmail.com

1/27/2026 Grace Anlauf

3850 Moor Shore Road
| Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

252-619-2564

ﬁgace@Eracefullivingobx.com




Agenda Item 11A

Date: March 2, 2026

Submitted By: Melody Clopton

Subject: Draft Fleet Management Policy

Background:

The Town’s operations rely heavily on the safe, efficient, and cost-effective use
of vehicles and equipment to deliver essential public services. A formal Fleet
Management Policy is necessary to establish consistent standards for the
operation, maintenance, procurement, and replacement of Town vehicles and
movable equipment.

Without clear guidance, there is an increased risk of

vehicle misuse,

inconsistent maintenance practices,
budget inefficiencies,

avoidable safety hazards.

This policy ensures that all Town employees understand their responsibilities in
operating municipal vehicles, that the Town’s investment in its fleet is properly
safeguarded through preventative maintenance and timely replacement, and that
procurement and disposal processes are transparent and fiscally responsible.

By implementing this policy, the Town promotes accountability, sustainability,
and operational readiness across all departments that depend on vehicles and
equipment to perform municipal work.

Recommended Motion:

I recommend a motion to approve the Fleet
Management Policy.




DRAFT

Fleet Management Policy

Purpose

To establish a uniform comprehensive policy and criteria for operation, purchase, assignment,
use and administrative control of vehicles owned by, titled to, leased, rented, or otherwise
controlled by the Town of Kitty Hawk.

To provide necessary information to ensure adequate and safe transportation for official
business in the most cost-effective and service-efficient manner possible.

Within this document, procedures and practices are provided to guide the use, operation,
maintenance, and replacement of Town vehicles and equipment.

Guidance is provided for:
1. Operational Guidelines and Requirements for Operating Town Vehicles
The operation of Town vehicles and movable equipment is essential for carrying out
municipal work. Rules and expectations for employees on how to properly use Town
vehicles and equipment are provided.

2. Procurement & Replacement
Details are provided regarding the mechanics of using, calculating, and accounting for
vehicle and equipment replacement, as well as the process for procuring replacements
and disposing of vehicles.

3. Maintenance Management
Outlines the responsibility and procedure for preventive maintenance and repair of the
Town'’s fleet, fleet service charges, fuel charges, preventative maintenance schedules,
and vehicle inventory and condition.

General Policy-Standards :

a. Vehicles and vehicular equipment will be used only for official purposes. "Official
purposes" is defined to mean, “conducting Town business only” unless otherwise
authorized by this policy.

b. Departments are responsible for assigned vehicles and must establish internal controls to
monitor the dispatch, utilization, and disposal of vehicles.

c. All Town-owned vehicles and drivers must comply with all Federal, State, Local
government highway and vehicle operation laws. As well as the standards outlined in this
policy.




DRAFT

d. Purchases of new vehicles are part of annual budget review and approval processes. This
includes vehicles purchased with grant funds.

e. Vehicles and vehicular equipment must adhere to the standards which the Town has
established for each type and class of vehicle.

f. Departments that make vehicle purchases through Town purchasing channels must
adhere to the Town's adopted Policy for replacements, operation, and maintenance.

g. Bid specifications should include performance and design criteria rather than specific
brand names, which may serve to limit competition.

h. Only the most economical vehicles shall be acquired to fulfill functions not met by other
resources unless approved for special needs by the Town Council.

i. Vehicle asset numbers will be assigned and maintained by the Finance Department upon

delivery of new vehicles and tracked in the Asset Management system.

The Finance Department maintains vehicle titles.

k. Each department should charge maintenance, repairs and fuel charges to the designated
expense GL accounts.

—

Operation of Town Vehicles and Equipment

The operation of Town vehicles or any moveable Town equipment on the roadways and streets
is indispensable in conducting Town business, and a loss of any vehicle due to an accident and/or
abuse will affect the overall mission capability of the Town. This section provides employee
guidelines for the use of Town equipment/vehicles. The Town will verify driving records of all
employees upon employment and annually thereafter.

e Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws/Town Policies - All drivers of Town
vehicles, and those using their personal vehicle in pursuit of Town business, shall comply
with all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws. All Town drivers should stay informed
about any changes in State law and Town policies regarding driving, such as seat belt
requirements.

e Passengers - Any vehicle that is covered under the Town's insurance policy shall be used
exclusively for Town business. The transportation of private citizens who are not
employees, contractors, clients, or otherwise involved in the execution of company
business is generally prohibited. This includes, but is not limited to, friends, family
members, and significant others. Each employee should use professional discretion when
transporting individuals in need of assistance based on the situation, the individual
needing transported and the distance they need to be transported.

¢ Driving While Impaired - No person shall drive or be permitted to drive a Town-owned

vehicle while under the influence of any alcoholic beverage or narcotic drug. Employees
who are taking prescription drugs that may cause drowsiness or may affect the safety of




DRAFT

the employee or others shall receive authorization from their Department Head before
operating equipment or driving a vehicle while on duty with the Town. Employees are
strictly prohibited from transporting alcohol or drugs in town-owned vehicles, unless they
are authorized law enforcement personnel doing so as part of their official law
enforcement duty, in accordance with established protocols and procedures.

e Accountability for Actions - Since all Town drivers are working for the public, they should
remember that the public is observing them and they will be held accountable for their
actions. Town vehicles are easily identified as such, and thus they constitute a direct
reflection upon the Town. By demonstrating courteous and considerate driving habits and
the safe operation of town vehicles, employees can reflect favorably upon the Town and
build good public relations. Therefore, employees should always make every effort to
avoid incidents by applying the principles of defensive driving to prevent accidents and
avoid endangering residents and visitors.

Termination of Employment and Abused Vehicles

When an assigned operator resigns, a complete inspection of the assigned vehicle must be
conducted by the Department Head or designee. Vehicle conditions and damages need to be
documented as part of off boarding. Each department may have a separate vehicle assighment
policy to follow.

Vehicle Inventory Control

All vehicles owned and titled by the Town must be accounted for on a vehicle roster known as
the Fixed Asset Inventory, which the Finance Department maintains. Upon acceptance of
vehicles through any of the five (5) methods of acquisition, department heads will submit all
documents related to the vehicle, specifying the acquisition method, to the Finance Department
for purposes of recording in the fixed asset inventory and insuring vehicle.

Vehicle identification
1. Governmental License Plates
Vehicles owned and titled to the Town must display a valid government license plate. The
only exception is vehicles involved in undercover law enforcement operations. Lost or
stolen license plates must be reported to the Finance Department immediately, to ensure
timely replacement.

If a vehicle license plate is lost or stolen, the Police must be notified. Town license plates
must not be removed or exchanged for any reasons except for the purposes of vehicle
surplus or sale. Governmental marked license plates are valid until the state issues a new
base license plate. All non-government tags must be renewed annually. Individual
departments currently handle all such arrangements.




DRAFT

2. Stickers/Specialty License Plates
No vehicle shall have any unauthorized markings, identification, sticker, or signs attached
to it that include the name(s) of Town Officials or employees. The Town Manager must
approve any sticker or identification.

3. Town Seals
Vehicles owned and titled to the Town are required to display a Town of Kitty Hawk seal,
Fire Department Seal, or Police Department Seal in a conspicuous location. The only
exception is vehicles involved in undercover law enforcement operations.

Any changes to departmental vehicle markings must be pre-approved by the Town
Manager.

4. Vehicle Color
White is the standard color for Town general-purpose vehicles. Other colors can be
considered acceptable but must be approved in advance with the Town Manager.

Vehicle Procurement/Replacement
Safety, dependability, and reliability are key factors to consider when determining if a vehicle
replacement is necessary. Several other factors could influence a vehicle’s life cycle.

e Service life is the amount of time a vehicle is capable of rendering service. The service life
of a vehicle may be quite lengthy if it receives adequate maintenance. There is, however,
a fatigue point for mechanical parts and structures that must be considered to ensure
safety is not compromised.

e Technological life is the relative decline in productivity of a unit when compared to a
newer model. Technological advancements affect fuel usage and greenhouse gas
emissions.

e Economic life is the length of time that a vehicle’s cost is at a minimum. As the age and
mileage of a vehicle increases the maintenance and operating costs increase.

The following chart will serve as the basis for an economic and mechanical inspection to
determine a replacement cycle or schedule. This chart was developed using historical
maintenance data compiled from fleet management maintenance records and feedback from
department heads.

The Replacement policy was reviewed and approved as part of Budget and CIP approval in FY
2025-2026 by the Town Council. High-cost vehicles such as specialized trucks or Fire Apparatus
may be retained for additional life as a reserve unit but must be evaluated annually.




DRAFT

Vehicle Type WHEET-3 Years
Police Vehicles 80,000 miles and or 8yrs
Fire Engines 100,000 miles and or | 25 yrs
Fire Ladder 100,000 miles and or | 25 yrs
Fire/Ocean Rescue Trucks 80,000 miles and or 8 yrs
Fire/Ocean Rescue SUV 80,000 miles and or 8 yrs
Specialty Vehicles 7 yrs
Public Works Trucks 80,000 miles and or 8 yrs
Planning Department Truck 80,000 miles and or 8 yrs
Administrative Department SUV 80,000 miles and or 8 yrs
Dump Truck (Diesel) 200,000 miles and or | 12 yrs
Grappel Truck (Diesel) 200,000 miles and or | 12 yrs
Hurricane Pumps 3,500 hours

Backhoe 5,000 hours 15 yrs
Sweeper tractor 3,500 hours

The life of vehicles and equipment not included in the above chart will be based on the
recommendations of manufacturers and user groups for that type of equipment. Additionally,
life will be adjusted based on the historical operating costs of specific vehicles.

Replacement Selection
The replacement of economically obsolete or inoperable vehicles is necessary to provide and
maintain a safe, efficient, reliable, and operable fleet.

Replacement criteria are established to serve as a general guideline of the entire vehicle fleet.
Each vehicle should be evaluated individually based on factors such as maintenance cost, age,
condition, downtime, and severity of use. Additionally, considering when it is no longer cost-
effective to maintain a vehicle, it is in the best interest of the Town to dispose of it, regardless of
its age or mileage.

Although established replacement criteria may determine eligibility for vehicle replacement, this
does not express or imply that eligible vehicles will be replaced.




DRAFT TICES (69

Replacement Schedule

1. Vehicle Equipment Replacement Guidelines

a. Year of Vehicle

b. Mileage

¢. General Overall Condition — This category takes into consideration body condition,
rust, interior condition, repairs, etc.

d. Reliability of Vehicle — Vehicles that are in the shop two or more times a month, on
average, excluding routine maintenance, should be given priority for replacement.

e. Total repair/ Maintenance Cost —this includes all maintenance and repair costs, minus
any fees associated with accident repairs.

As part of the budget process, a prioritized list will be developed in accordance with the
guidelines outlined in this policy. The prioritized list will be shared with the relevant
departments to determine the appropriatea replacement schedule, as well as the proper
vehicle type and total vehicle inventory. Once finalized, this list will be shared with Town
Council at the budget meeting as part of the CIP and Budget proposal.

Exception

Department heads may request an exception to the replacement schedule and guidelines
if excessive repairs are necessary for the vehicle. The vehicle needing repair may be
moved to the first replacement slot based on evaluation of repair costs and book value.
Such a change must be documented in writing to the finance department and presented
to the Town Council for approval.

2. Reserve Payment Calculations

When preparing for vehicle upgrades, department heads should utilize the capital
improvement plan in planning future replacements and strive to set aside funds in a
capital reserve for upcoming purchases.

3. Vehicle Specification

Recommended NC state specifications will be used as standards for establishing vehicle
requirements. Workload levels and performance measures should be considered in
evaluating equipment specifications.




DRAFT

The following types of vehicles are suggested for replacement:

Category

Law Enforcement
Public Safety
Fire Department

Use
Patrol

Size/Type (Suggested)
Mix - Sedan, Full Size Pursuit Patrol, 2 |
Deeor-CoupeMeotoreyele, Truck or SUV

Beach Patrol

ATV, side by side

Unmarked
(Investigative)

Sedan, Intermediate, or SUV

Emergency Response,

Truck, Pickup, % ton or smaller; Utility, |

Technical Uses

Emergency Intermediate or Full Size (4 Wheel Drive)
Preparedness

Crime Prevention Van, Truck / Pick-up/ SUV

Inspections — Codes | Sedan, Intermediate; Truck, Pickup, %

and  Zoning, Site
Construction

ton, (4 Wheel drive & Extended Cab)

Public Works

Truck, Pickup % ton or smaller, Crew Cab,
Flatbeds and Small Dumps, (4 Wheel
Drive), Service Bodies

Administrative

Administrative Uses

Sedan, Full or Intermediate; SUV

Requests for exceptions, accompanied by appropriate justification, should be made through the
Finance Department, the Town Manager, and the Town Council.

Vehicle Acquisition

The Town of Kitty Hawk may come into possession of vehicles in five (5) ways:

1. Direct Purchase

Most vehicles will enter the Town system by procurement means. All vehicles shall be
purchased in coordination with the Finance Department. The Procurement Officer shall
adhere to the Town's Purchasing Policies and Procedures. All new vehicles shall be
delivered to the appropriate department by the vendor for inspection and acceptance

purposes.

2. Donation

The Town may accept title to, and possession of motor vehicles donated for Town use
and pay such costs as are reasonable and necessary for maintenance, protection, and
operation of such vehicles. Vehicles are subject to all applicable vehicle and property
regulations. No vehicles will be accepted that may restrict use, assignment, or disposition




DRAFT

or have existing liens in force upon them. Vehicles donated under a grant program should
follow the vehicle use guidelines established by that grant.

3. Transfer

Once owned by the Town, appropriately titled and identified, vehicles may be transferred
by administrative agreement from one functional area to another. Department heads in
applicable departments will communicate transfers to the Finance Department for
inventory control purposes through established procedures for fixed asset transfers.

4. Rental/Lease

Vehicle rental or leasing is permissible but not recommended on a long-term basis, except
by authorization of the Town Manager. Circumstances under which a vehicle may be
rented or leased:

a. No assigned, available, or operable Town-owned vehicle available for the intended
use.

b. For out-of-town use when a Town-owned vehicle is not assigned, available, or
suitable.

c. Forin-town use when a Town-owned vehicle is not assigned, available, or operable.

d. For short-term, specialized service delivery where purchase is not feasible.

e. For other reasons, determined appropriately by the Town Manager.

5. Condemnation

Vehicles may enter the Town’s fleet via condemnation actions of the Courts. Vehicles,
which are condemned by the Courts, shall not be utilized until a clear title is transferred
to the Town of Kitty Hawk.

Upon receipt of clear title, such vehicle(s) shall be delivered to the Town Hall and will be
assigned, operated, and maintained according to this Policy and Procedures. The Finance
Department should be notified when the Town has received clear title to any vehicle
acquired through condemnation so the vehicle may be appropriately included in the
Town’s fixed assets record.

Vehicle Disposal

This policy serves as guidelines for cost-effective vehicle replacement cycles. Other factors, such
as available funding or vehicle service level agreements, may influence replacements. Increases
in public health and safety measures requiring additional vehicles or equipment will also
influence vehicle replacement schedules. In these cases, a vehicle may need to be retained past




DRAFT

its life cycle; however, these vehicles must be relinquished at the first opportunity to reduce
operating costs and allow on-time delivery of town services.

The Town will list replaced vehicles to be advertised and sold on a government auction site. There
are times when a vehicle can be reassigned to another department with Town Manager approval
or sold at a reduced cost to another Town entity with Town Council approval.

Preventive Maintenance Schedules

Individual departments are responsible for ensuring that all vehicles are serviced according to
schedule. It is the responsibility of the vehicle user to schedule appropriate preventative
maintenance. If the user cannot schedule service, they should seek assistance from the
supervisor.

Preventive maintenance schedules have been developed for oil changes, lubrication, brake
service, and the cooling system as recommended by the manufacturer.

The manufacturer's suggested maintenance and service schedule should be the minimum level
of service and maintenance for town-owned vehicles.

All vehicles should be inspected annually by a certified North Carolina state Vehicle Inspector.
MINIMUM VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE STANDARDS

1. General Condition
o All vehicles must be safe, clean, and fully operational.
¢ No visible body damage, rust, or missing components.
e Paint, decals, and interiors should be maintained in good appearance consistent with a
positive Town image.

2. Mechanical & Safety Requirements
» Vehicles must pass annual safety inspections and meet North Carolina vehicle standards.
o All systems—brakes, steering, tires, suspension, and exhaust—must operate properly.
e Tires must have at least 4/32 inch tread at assignment and not fall below 2/32 inch before
replacement.
+ Safety equipment (seat belts, airbags, mirrors, emergency kits) must be present and
functional.




DRAFT

3. Lighting System Standards
e All exterior and interior lights must be fully operational at all times.
o Headlights: Both low and high beams must function and be properly aligned.
o Tail lights & brake lights: Must illuminate clearly and immediately upon braking.
o Turn signals & hazard lights: Must flash consistently and visibly from all directions.
o Reverse lights: Required to operate when in reverse gear.
o Marker and clearance lights (for larger vehicles): Must be functional and compliant
with DOT standards.
e Lighting lenses should be clear, unbroken, and free of moisture or dirt.
o All vehicles should undergo monthly lighting inspections and have any burned-out bulbs
replaced immediately.

4. Maintenance Standards
e Must follow the manufacturer’s recommended service schedule.
e Regular checks of oil, coolant, brake, and transmission fluids.
» Preventive maintenance logs must be updated after every service by the Fleet Manager
for each department..
+ Any defect or malfunction must be reported within 72 hours and repaired as soon as
possible.

5. Operational Standards
¢ Vehicles should be monitored for mileage, fuel efficiency, and downtime.
» Drivers must complete pre-trip inspections, including lights and safety checks.
e Vehicles nearing end-of-life or high repair cost thresholds must be evaluated for
replacement.

6. Cleanliness & Presentation
o Vehicle interiors and exteriors must be kept clean at all times.
¢ No unauthorized modifications or personal items.
e All decals, license plates, and unit identifiers must be visible and compliant.




Agenda Item 11B

Date: March 2, 2026

Submitted By: Melody Clopton

Subject: Revised Travel and Expense Policy

The Town of Kitty Hawk’s updated Travel Policy reflects the need to align procedures with
current operational practices, IRS and GSA standards, and modern administrative
expectations. The changes strengthen consistency, accountability, and compliance in managing
travel-related expenses across departments.

|

Key reasons for revision include:

1. Clarifying Approval Authority: Updates define clearer lines of approval for travel at
all levels—employees, department heads, and Town Officials—ensuring oversight and
accountability.

2. Expanded Guidance on Meal and Per Diem Eligibility: The new section outlines
eligibility thresholds, examples, and a detailed chart following federal per diem
standards. These additions improve transparency and fairness while preventing misuse.

3. Standardization of Reimbursement Procedures: The revised language specifies
timeframes for travel report submission, documentation requirements, and conditions
for reimbursement or denial.

4. Improved Financial Controls: Revisions emphasize prepayment by Town credit
cards, the limited use of personal funds, and procedures for cancellations and refunds
to safeguard public resources.

5. Compliance and Fair Labor Standards: Clearer references to the Fair Labor
Standards Act ensure consistent compensation for travel time and compliance with
federal guidelines.

6. Added Clarity and Flexibility: New text allows exceptions and pre-approvals in
special circumstances (e.g., travel companions, extended travel for cost savings),
providing flexibility while maintaining fiscal discipline.

Overall, the updated policy modernizes the Town’s approach to travel management—
balancing efficiency, fairness, and stewardship of taxpayer funds—while ensuring all Town
Officials and employees have a consistent understanding of their responsibilities when
traveling on official business.

Recommended Motion:

 Motion to approve updated Travel and Expense Policy as presented.




DRAFT

RED TEXT IS NEW OR EDITED FROM
ORIGINAL POLICY

Travel and Expense Policy

Last Revised: 01/01/2025
Latest Revision: 11/03/2025 (Council Review)

Purpose

The Town of Kitty Hawk recognizes that Town Officials and employees are required to travel for
the purpose of representing the Town at meetings and professional associations, as well as for
training to enhance their skills regarding the performance of their various positions within Town
government. The quality of life for the citizens of Kitty Hawk is improved by having informed and
educated Town Officials and employees, and the expense of such training, including the
associated travel, is an appropriate expense for the Town to bear.

The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for the payment and reimbursement of travel
expenses incurred by Town Officials and employees in the performance of their official functions
with the Town of Kitty Hawk.

Anyone found in violation of this policy, whether in part or in whole, may be required to
reimburse the Town for all funds paid and reimbursement requests may be denied.

Applicability

This policy shall apply to all Town Officials and employees. For this policy, “Town Official” shall
be defined as any elected official, member of a board, or committee appointed by the Kitty Hawk
Town Council, the Town Manager, or the Town Attorney.

Travel Approval

The Department Head shall have the authority to approve employee travel requests. The Town
Manager shall approve Department Head travel requests. The Town Council shall have the
authority to approve requests made by elected and appointed Town Officials. Exceptions may be
approved by the Town Manager, Department Director or Finance Officer when travel
circumstances warrant.

Credit Cards

Whenever possible, all expenses related to travel shall be pre-paid using a Town credit card. If it
is not possible to pre-pay certain costs, the Town Official or employee is encouraged to use the
Town credit card whenever possible, except for meals.




DRAFT

RED TEXT IS NEW OR EDITED FROM
ORIGINAL POLICY

Compensation for Travel Time

The Town follows the guidelines set forth by the Fair Labor Standards Act for calculating
compensable travel time for non-exempt employees who are traveling to or from an event to
conduct official Town business.

Employees’ compensation for travel time is for the actual time spent traveling the most direct
route. Time spent leaving earlier than necessary, taking the “scenic route” or sightseeing, etc, is
not compensable.

Per Diem Meal Eligibility

Town Officials’ and employees' meal reimbursement and incidental expense (MA&IE)
reimbursements will be based on the current IRS per diem schedule per GSA (General Services
Administration) Section §301-11.1B. No reimbursements will be given for any amount over the
IRS rate unless pre-approved by the Town Manager or Town Council.

Meal reimbursements shall be limited to approved or required training, conferences, and
meetings that are outside of normal daily duties. Meal reimbursements for full-day travel will be
given up to the daily limit of the M&IE schedule. Town Officials and employees may receive meal
reimbursements for partial day travel based on the M&IE breakdown and according to the
following schedule:

(Tips, vending machines, and snacks are included in the per diem meal allowance rate and are
not reimbursable.)

Meals provided with conference registration are not reimbursable.

Meal per diem is provided only when an employee is traveling on official business and incurs
meal expenses due to being away from their regular work location for a qualifying period of
time.

Employees are eligible for a meal per diem when:
s Travel requires an overnight stay, or

o The employee is away from their official duty station for 12 hours or more, and
e Travelis approved in advance by a supervisor or department head.




DRAFT

RED TEXT IS NEW OR EDITED FROM
ORIGINAL POLICY

Meal per diem is not granted when:

o The travel occurs entirely within the employee’s normal work area, or
» Maeals are provided by the event, hotel, or host organization, or

e The employee returns home the same day without an overnight stay.
e Per diem will not be approved for personal days taken during travel.

The total daily per diem covers breakfast, lunch, and dinner.

When travel covers only part of a day, reimbursement is prorated:

Breakfast: eligible if travel begins before 6:00 a.m.
Lunch: eligible if travel occurs between 10:00 a.m. — 2:00 p.m.
Dinner: eligible if you return after 7:00 p.m.

Lunch per diem is excluded from long same-day trips, as an employee can eat a normal meal
during their regular work hours.

Examples:

¢ [f an employee departs at 7:30 a.m. and returns at 5:00 p.m., no meal per diem is granted
(day travel without overnight stay).
¢ If the employee departs at 5:00 a.m. and returns at 8:00 p.m., breakfast and dinner per
diem may be granted.

Meal Per Diem Eligibility Chart

to official travel.

p.m.

Per Diem
- L re s ical E | .
Meal Eligibility Criteria (Typical Standard) xample Scenarios Granted?
Leaves home at 5:00
f : .m.
Breakfast Employee departs before 6:00a.m. on i | ¢ 2n out-of- Yes
official business travel. .
town meeting.
Not granted unless travel includes an  [[Departs at 7:30 a.m.,
Lunch overnight stay. Generally considered returns 5:00 p.m. X No
part of a normal workday meal. (same day).
Returns from out-of-
: .m. .
Dinner Employesrefufns afjer,/:00pmm.igue town training at 8:30 Yes




DRAFT

RED TEXT IS NEW OR EDITED FROM A .=
ORIGINAL POLICY el
Meal Eligibility Criteria (Typical Standard) Example Scenarios pi v Bich
g ' b P Granted?

Two-day conference

- . (] Yes
requiring overnight
stay.

Same-Day Travel . Attends 9:00 a.m.—

Typically no per diem — considered ) R
(Less than 12 part of regular workday. 4:00 p-m. trainingin || No
hours) nearby city.

Overnight Travel |Per diem covers all three meals

(Full Day) (breakfast, lunch, dinner). (Full)

Extended Same- ||Partial per diem is allowed
Day Travel (12+ |(breakfast/dinner only) if early
hours) departure or late return.

Leaves 5:00 a.m., Partial
returns 8:00 p.m. (B/D)

Lodging

Lodging necessary to accommodate overnight travel is appropriately reimbursable to the traveler
when approved. All Lodging costs will be reviewed and approved by supervision before final
booking.

If lodging is not available at the conference hotel, an amount up to the cost of lodging in the
conference hotel is typically authorized. The Town will only pay the lesser amount authorized or
the expense incurred.

Travel Companions

a. Payment of travel and subsistence expenses of attendants for physically challenged Town
Officials or employees while traveling on Town business may be reimbursed to the same
extent as other individuals covered by this policy if prior approval is obtained from the
Town Manager or Town Council.

5= Spouses, family members, or other guests may travel with Town Officials or employees to
seminars, meetings, and other gathermgs at their own expense. At—ﬁu-net-rens—whepe




DRAFT

RED TEXT IS NEW OR EDITED FROM _
ORIGINAL POLICY -

n -

Automotive Travel

a. Whenever possible, Town vehicles should be used for travel by employees. If a Town
vehicle is unavailable, the employee’s private vehicle may be used with the permission of
the Town Manager. When a private vehicle is used for town-related business, mileage
will be reimbursed at the federal allowable rate.

b. Employees assigned a Town vehicle shall use their Town vehicle whenever automotive
travel is required. When using a Town-owned vehicle for travel, no mileage will be
reimbursed to the employee.

¢. When automotive travel is required by elected or appointed Town Officials, the Town
Official shall use their private vehicle for the travel and shall be reimbursed for mileage
by the Town at the current federal allowable rate.

d. Town Officials and employees attending the same event should arrange carpools
whenever possible. In the event of carpooling to an event, only one reimbursement for
mileage will occur.

e. Reasonable parking fees, tolls, taxi charges, car rentals, and expenses of a similar nature,
when appropriate to the travel, are reimbursable to the Town Official or employee upon
submission of appropriate documentation of the same.

f. Individuals other than Town Officials or other employees may not accompany an
employee in Town-owned vehicles unless they have a business interest in the purpose of
the trip and their presence is related to Town business.

Air and Rail Travel

Reimbursement for air or rail is limited to business or coach fare, substantiated by a receipt.
Supervisors must approve the cost of all coach-class air flights before final booking to ensure the
most economical fares are booked and it is aligned with the departmental budget.

When traveling by common carrier to conduct Town business, Town Officials or employees
traveling to their destination earlier than necessary and/or delaying their return to avail the Town
of reduced transportation rates may be reimbursed for meals and lodging for the additional
travel days if the amount saved due to the early and/or delayed travel is greater than the amount
expended in additional costs of meals and lodging. Town employees shall obtain permission from
their Department Head before making plans to travel early or extend travel to ensure maximum
productivity.




DRAFT

RED TEXT IS NEW OR EDITED FROM
ORIGINAL POLICY

Trip Cancellation

When a Town Official or employee cancels an approved trip and the Town has paid registration,
lodging, or other related fees, the Town Official or employee shall be responsible for obtaining
refunds for canceling hotel reservations.

If refunds cannot be obtained, the Town Official or employee must submit a letter of explanation
to the Town Manager or Town Council and may request that the reimbursement to the Town by
the Town Official or employee be waived.

Submission of Travel Expense Report

Travel authorization and approval must be granted prior to travel.

A travel expense report must be completed within 10 days of returning to receive
reimbursement. The travel expense report should include a copy of the event agenda, a
summary of the meeting or course, an official mileage statement from work location to
destination, and travel time calculated using MapQuest or Google Maps.

Once the travel expense report is approved and submitted, Finance will reimburse the employee
for travel-related expenses.

It is the Town’s practice to provide reimbursement upon completion of travel and submittal of
proper documentation.

The Town will not provide Travel advances. If there are exceptional circumstances requiring an
advance the Town Manager must approve.




Agenda Item 11C

Date: March 2, 2026

Submitted By: Melody Clopton

Subject: Discussion to Explore Town Hall Renovation

Background:

In recent months, the Town Council has asked the Town Manager to explore renovating Town
Hall. The Project would involve the design of renovations to the existing Town Hall building.
This may involve the shifting of existing spaces and/or additions to the existing building to
accomplish the following goals:

» Move three offices from upstairs to downstairs.

» Achieve ADA Accessibility for everyone.

» Add additional bathrooms to meet or exceed building code requirements.

* Create a dedicated break space that is separate from the copy room.

* Create a small Conference room.

* Add a few offices for future needs.

* Design a visible and distinct planning suite for all planning staff.

Proposal Analysis:
Both proposals aim to renovate and potentially expand the existing Town Hall to meet
accessibility, space, and functionality goals

Option #1: Beacon Architects’ Proposal is more budget-friendly and well-suited if the Town
wants to start with a limited feasibility study before committing to a full design. However, it
lacks detailed cost estimating and multiple design options at this stage. The cost is $8,000.

Option #2: Dills Architects’ Proposal is more comprehensive, including programming,
multiple design iterations, and a cost estimate — offering more clarity for budgeting and
decision-making. While more expensive, it likely provides better value if the Town aims to
move quickly into schematic and eventual construction phases. The cost is $14,500.

Either cost would need to be approved as a budget amendment and transfer from Fund
Balance.

Recommended Motion:

I recommend a motion to instruct Town Manager to




QOctober 20, 2025

Town of Kitty Hawk
Attn: Melody Clopton
PO Box 549

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

Re: Programming and Schematic Design services for Kitty Hawk Town Hall Renovation
Dear Melody,

Dills Architects is pleased to provide you with a proposal for schematic architectural design services in
support of the Town of Kitty Hawk’s Town Hall Renovation.

Project Understanding

Itis our understanding that the Town of Kitty Hawk would like renovations to be done to their town
hall, located at 101 Veterans Memorial Dr, Kitty Hawk. This will include both a renovation and
potential addition to the existing space. This will include some rightsizing of offices, assessing ADA
accessibility needs, and additional restrooms.

This exercise will be to solidify our schematic design plan, study, and ROM cost, taking into account
reusing the existing footprint of the tenant space as much as possible. Programming of the space will
be thoughtfully discussed with the Town to determine what spaces will stay vs. what is currently
programmed, ensuring we work within the existing footprint as much as possible.

Scope of Wark
Architectural:

e Dills will develop up to (2) schematic design options based on programmatic feedback for Town
approval.

e This will include up to (2) rounds of comments prior to the final Schematic submittal

e A ROM (initial) cost estimate will be submitted as part of the final Schematic Design

Total Programming and Schematic Design: $14,500

We look forward to the opportunity to work with you. If approved and accepted in accordance with the

above, please sign below.



Schematic Design services - Kitty Hawk Town Hall Renovation 10.20.2025

Town of Kitty Hawk 4 Dills Architects, P.C.
Date Date
10.20.25

Page 2 of 2



BEACON

ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN, PLLC
P.O. BOX 1827 KITTY HAWK, NC 27949
PHONE: (252) 441-6767 FAX: (252) 261-6045

DATE: 10/24/25
PROJECT: Kitty Hawk Town Hall Renovation (the “Project”)

101 Veteran's Memorial Drive, Kitty Hawk, Dare County, North Carolina, 27949
PARTIES: Beacon Architecture & Design, P.L.L.C. (the “Architect”)

P.O. Box 1827, Kitty Hawk, North Carolina 27949
Christopher Nason, Managing Member

Town of Kitty Hawk (the “Client”)
101 Veteran's Memorial Drive, Kitty Hawk, Dare County, North Carolina, 27949
Melody Clopton, Town Manager, authorized representative

. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The Project involves the design of renovations to the existing Town Hall building in Kitty Hawk,
North Carolina. There may be shifting of existing spaces and/or additions to the existing building
to accompilish the following goals:

Move three offices from upstairs to downstairs.

Achieve ADA Accessibility for everyone in as much as possible.

Add additional bathrooms to meet or exceed building code requirements.

Create a dedicated break space that is distant from the copy room.

Create a small Conference room.

Add a few offices for future needs.

Design a visible and distinct planning suite for all planning staff. Currenily, the director is
upstairs and all other planning staff are located in one large space downstairs. Planning
is the most common reason for visitors to Town Hall.

Remove and relocate existing bullet-proof glazing to new service desk area if feasible.

It is assumed that the site is suitable for the proposed uses and any potential addition. During the
design of the Project, it may become helpful that engineers need to be consulted to resolve
design questions. Such services wili be provided by the Client or the Architect by separate
agreement as necessary.

It. ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES

The Architect will perform the following professional services for the Client:

Feasibility Study Phase: The Architect will meet with the Client to discuss the program
and existing facilities. It is assumed the Client will provide the Architect with the existing
building drawings or site plans that are accurate to the existing conditions. Deliverables
in this phase may take the form of schematic floor plans, exterior elevations and an
exterior 3d rendering for use in the review process should an addition be proposed. The
Architect will also perform a preliminary code analysis to identify any major requirements
for the design. After completion of the Feasibility Study Phase and/or approval by the
Client, the Architect will move onto the Construction Documents phase by separate
contract (See Additional Services below for a preliminary scope of work).




lll. ADDITIONAL SERVICES

The Architect's services are limited to those listed in Section Il above. However, if the Client
requests and the Architect agrees, the Architect will perform the following Additional Services
("Additional Services"}, and such Additional Services shall be governed by the following

provisions.

Construction Documents: Using the information obtained during the Design

Development, the Architect will create permit documents for the Project including but
not limited to building plans, details, and coordination with the Client. The Architect will
prepare a code analysis in accordance with state, local and federal guidelines. The
Architect will also coordinate design of related building systems with other consultants as
required to describe the nature of the project. Additional engineering services (ex. civil,
structural, plumbing, mechanical, and electrical engineering) will be required to permit
the project. These services shall be facilitated by the Architect by a separate contract
after the Feasibility Study Phase of the Coniract is complete.

IV. FEES AND PAYMENTS

ESTIMATED SUM:
FEASIBILITY STUDY $8,000.00 (Eight thousand dollars and zero
cents).
ADDITIONAL SERVICES To be billed at the rate of $175 per hour

{One hundred seventy-five dollars and zero
cents per hour).

Full-size pdfs will be provided at no cost to the Client for the required printing of the
Project. If the Client requests, the Architect can make black/white prints at the rate of
$4.00 per sheet (for assumed size: 24" x 36"). Color printing costs vary widely so if required,
the Client should contact the Architect for more information.

PAYMENT SCHEDULE:
25% Complete $2,000.00
50% Complete $2,000.00
75% Complete $2,000.00
100% Complete $2,000.00
Additional Services To be monthly on an as-needed basis.
Printing Services To be billed as requested by the Client

The Client shall pay such invoices within fifteen (15) days of receipt of same. Upon issuance of
final feasibility drawings for Town review, the Client shall be responsible for paying the balance of
design fees.



V. LIABILITY, GOVERNING LAW, ARBITRATION, AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

The Architect and the Architect's consultants (if any) shall have no responsibility or liability for the
construction of the Project, including, but not limited to, liability for any construction procedures,
safety precautions or injuries incurred before, during, or after construction. The Architect shall
have no liability for any hazardous materials or toxic substances discovered in the course of
construction. The Architect shall have no responsibility or liability for any third party and this
agreement gives no rights or benefits fo anyone other than the Client and the Architect. All
duties and responsibilities underiaken pursuant to this agreement will be for the sole benefit of
the Client and the Architect. To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Client hereby
agrees to indemnify and hold the Architect and its officers and employees harmiless for, from
and against all liabilities, damages. losses and costs, including, but not limited to, reasonable
attorneys’ fees, to the extent caused by the negligence, recklessness, or intentionally wrongful
conduct of the Client and other persons employed or utilized by the Client, including ifs
consultants, in the performance of the Agreement. The total liability of the Architect to the
Client or anyone claiming through the Client, for any and all losses, claims, damages, expenses
or costs whatsoever, shall not exceed the total amount of the fee that is a part of this
agreement. All parties acknowledge that the State of North Carolina shall govern all terms in this
coniract. The parties further acknowledge that the State of North Carolina has available to
parties the systems of arbitration for settlement of disputes. In the event the parties are unable
to resolve any disputes arising out of this Agreement, or in any way related to the services under
this Agreement, then such disputes shall be resolved by binding arbitration in accordance with
the rules of the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules. This confract can be amended only by
further written agreements executed by the parties hereto. This contract contains the entire and
integrated agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or
agreements (written or oral). There are no representations, warranties, covenants, or other
undertakings other than those expressly set forth herein. In performing its professional services,
the Architect will use that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised, under similar
circumstances, by reputable members of its profession in the same locality at the time the
services are provided. No warranty, express or implied, is made or intended by the Architect’s
undertaking herein or its performance of services, and it is agreed that the Architect is not a
fiduciary with respect to the Architect. Except as otherwise stated herein, all the provisions of
this contract shall be binding upon the respective parties, heirs, next of kin, executors,
administrators, and assigns of the parties. Neither the Client nor the Architect shall assign this
contract without the written consent of the other, except that the Client may assign this
contract to an institutional lender providing financing for the Project, which institutional lender
shall assume the Client's rights and obligations under this contract. If the Client defaulfs by failing
to substantially perform, in accordance with the ferms of this agreement, as reasonably
determined by the Architect, the Architect may give written notice to the Client setting forth the
nature of the default and requesting the Client initiate cure within seven (7) calendar days from
the date of notice. at any time thereafter, if the Client fails to initiate cure upon the request of
the Architect and continue such cure until complete, the Architect may give notice to the client
of immediate termination. if the agreement is terminated by the Architect pursuant to this
paragraph, no further work under this agreement shall be made by the Architect until the
default is cured.



IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties do hereby set their hands and seals the day and year above first
written.

ARCHITECT:
Beacon Architecture and Design, PLLC

By
Christopher K. Nason, AlA Date

CLIENT:

Town of Kitty Hawk

By
Melody Clopton, authorized representative Date






